Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

### Gondwana Research

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/gr

#### GR focus review

## Juvenile versus recycled crust in the Central Asian Orogenic Belt: Implications from ocean plate stratigraphy, blueschist belts and intra-oceanic arcs

#### Inna Safonova \*

Sobolev Institute of Geology and Mineralogy, Siberian Branch, Russian Academy of Sciences, 3 Koptyuga ave., Novosibirsk, 630090, Russia Novosibirsk State University, 2 Pirogova St., Novosibirsk, 630090, Russia

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 24 March 2016 Received in revised form 1 September 2016 Accepted 19 September 2016 Available online 29 September 2016

Keywords: Pacific-type orogeny Accretionary complex Tectonic erosion Nd and Hf isotopes Geological mapping

#### ABSTRACT

New or "juvenile" crust forms and grows mainly through mafic to andesitic magmatism at Pacific-type or accretionary type convergent margins as well as via tectonic accretion of oceanic and island-arc terranes and translation of continental terranes. During the last decades the juvenile or recycled nature of crust has been commonly evaluated using whole-rock isotope and Hf-in-zircon isotope methods. However, evidence for the accretionary or Pacific-type nature of an orogenic belt comes from geological data, for example, from the presence of accretionary complexes (AC), intra-oceanic arcs (IOA), oceanic plate stratigraphy units (OPS), and MORB-OIB derived blueschist belts (BSB). The Central Asian Orogenic Belt (CAOB) represents the world's largest province of Phanerozoic juvenile crustal growth during ca. 800 m.y. between the East European, Siberian, North China and Tarim cratons. From geological point of view, the CAOB is a typical Pacific-type belt as it hosts numerous occurrences of accretionary complexes, intra-oceanic arcs, OPS units, and MORB-OIB derived blueschist belts. In spite of its accretionary nature, supported by positive whole rock Nd isotope characteristics in CAOB granitoids, the Hf-in-zircon isotope data reveal a big portion of recycled crust. Such a controversy can be explained by presence of accreted microcontinents, isotopically mixed igneous reservoirs and by the tectonic erosion of juvenile crust. The most probable localities of tectonic erosion in the CAOB are the middle and southern Tienshan and southern Transbaikalia because these regions comprise a predominantly recycled crust (based on isotope data), but the geological data show the presence of intra-oceanic arcs, blueschist belts and accreted OPS with oceanic island basalts (OIB) and tectonically juxtaposed coeval arc granitoids and accretionary units. This warrants combination of detailed geological studies with isotopic results, as on their own they may not reflect such processes as tectonic erosion of juvenile crust and/or arc subduction.

© 2016 International Association for Gondwana Research. Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction: formation and transformation of continental crust in Asia	7				
2. Pacific-type orogens as Earth's principal sites of continental growth: definition and recognition						
3.	The Central Asian Orogenic Belt: world's largest Pacific-type orogen	12				
	3.1. Definition, brief history and key terranes	12				
	3.2. Intra-oceanic arcs	13				
	3.3. Accreted oceanic islands/seamounts/plateaus	13				
	3.4. Blueschist belts	14				
4.	Juvenile versus recycled crust in the CAOB	15				
	4.1. Methodological background	15				
	4.2. Whole-rock Nd vs Hf-in-zircon data	18				
	4.3. Isotopes vs geology	20				
5.	Tectonic erosion of juvenile crust and arc subduction: evidence from the CAOB	22				
6.	Conclusions	23				
Ackı	Acknowledgments					
Refe	References					

\* Sobolev Institute of Geology and Mineralogy, SB RAS, 3 Koptyuga ave., Novosibirsk, 630090, Russia. *E-mail address:* inna03-64@mail.ru.

#### http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gr.2016.09.003 1342-937X/© 2016 International Association for Gondwana Research. Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.







## 1. Introduction: formation and transformation of continental crust in Asia

New or "juvenile" continental crust forms and grows through tonalitetrondhjemite-granodiorite (TTG-type) and mafic magmatism at convergent margins mostly in intra-oceanic arcs and through intra-plate mantle plume magmatism. In addition, the volume of continental crust can be increased via accretion of oceanic crust, island-arcs and/or microcontinents (Fig. 1). The juvenile crust can be then re-worked and/or recycled at convergent margins by andesitic to felsic magmatism in continental arcs and by collision-related granitoid magmatism and metamorphism. Evaluation of proportions of juvenile continental crust versus the crust which was reworked in orogenic belts during the suturing of oceans and continental collisions is extremely important in academic and applied (mineral exploration and prospecting) sciences to understand major stages of Earth's geological history and secular changes in dominant types and settings of mineral deposits.

Asia is the world's most complex area of continental crust formation and its interaction with the oceanic lithosphere of the Pacific plate at the western Pacific as well as in the India-Sumatra subduction zones, both producing large volumes of TTG-crust (Fig. 2). Asia can be viewed as a probable core of the next supercontinent (Maruyama et al., 2007; Safonova and Maruyama, 2014). The Asian part of the Eurasian continent includes five major cratonic blocks (Siberia, Tarim, North China, South China and India), two large younger continental domains (Kazakhstan, Indochina), numerous microcontinents (MCs) and orogenic belts. It has been formed by multiple events of oceanic subduction and suturing in the Paleo-Asian, Paleo-Pacific, Tethyan and Pacific oceanic realms, accompanied by multiple continental collisions (e.g., Maruyama et al., 1989; Zonenshain et al., 1990; Sengör and Natal'in, 1996; Jahn et al., 2000; Yakubchuk, 2004; Windley et al., 2007; Safonova and Santosh, 2014; Dong et al., 2016). Oceanic closures and related continental collisions form two types of orogenic belts: accretionary or Pacific-type (also known as Turkic-type) and Himalayan-type (also known as collision-type) (Fig. 3). The Pacific-type belts form above the subduction zones, where oceanic lithosphere is submerged under intra-oceanic arcs or active continental margins, e.g., the Circum-Pacific orogens (Fig. 3A) and their fossil equivalents of the Central Asian Orogenic Belt (CAOB; Fig. 2). The Pacific-type belts are major sites of continental growth through TTG-type magmatism and accretion (e.g., Maruyama et al., 1989; Stern, 2010; I. Safonova et al., 2011; Safonova and Maruyama, 2014; Xiao and Santosh, 2014). The Himalayan-type belts result from collisions of continental blocks accompanied by strong re-working of already existing continental crust through granitoid magmatism and extended medium-pressure (MP) to high-pressure-high-temperature (HP-HT) metamorphism (Fig. 3B).

The CAOB is located between the East European, Siberian, North China and Tarim cratons, encompassing an immense area from the Urals in the west, through Altai-Sayan and Transbaikalia in Russia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Uzbekistan, north-western China, Mongolia, and north-eastern China to the Sea of Okhotsk in the Russian Far East (Figs. 2, 4). It is the world's largest accretionary orogen that evolved during some 800 m.y. The CAOB includes predominantly Pacific-type orogens, but Himalayan-type orogens can be also recognized. Evaluation of proportions between juvenile and recycled crust, i.e., proportions of Pacific-type versus Himalayan-type orogens, is a key element in reconstructing major stages and dynamics of continental growth. As syn-orogenic and post-orogenic tectonics may have disturbed or destroyed the original relationships of rocks units, direct "in-field" evaluation of those proportions can be problematic.

During recent years, the focus in the studies of orogenic belts has shifted from the field geology to the application of methods of radiogenic isotope research, the most reliable and popular of which are wholerock Nd and Hf-in-zircon systematics (Jahn, 2004; Kröner et al., 2014). The Nd systematics can provide a rough estimate of the proportions of juvenile versus recycled older crustal material for samples with determined crystallization ages. The Hf systematics, if combined with geochronology, has a potential not only to fix "juvenile versus recycled" crust proportions but to reconstruct a history of magmatism through age vs isotope correlations. The numerous Nd and Hf isotope data, obtained during the last 10 years, show from 20 to 80% of recycled crust in the CAOB (Jahn, 2004; Kovalenko et al., 2004; Condie and Kröner, 2013; Turkina et al., 2012; Kröner et al., 2014) in contrast to its geologically recorded predominantly Pacific-type nature (e.g., Windley et al., 2007; Kruk et al., 2011; Yarmolyuk et al., 2012; Safonova and Maruyama, 2014) (Fig. 5). This paper is an attempt to understand the reasons for the discrepancy and possible limitations of the isotopic methods in differentiating Himalayan-type and Pacific-type orogens as well as in evaluating the proportions of juvenile and recycled crust in the CAOB. The four key components of Pacific-type orogens accretionary complexes (AC), intra-oceanic arcs (IOA), oceanic plate stratigraphy (OPS), and MORB-OIB derived blueschist belts (BSB) will be systematically assessed on detailed geological studies accompanied by well-justified application of up-to-date high-precision analytical methods for reconstructing the settings of formation of continental crust within the structurally complex orogenic belts. A special focus



**Fig. 1.** A cartoon, illustrating a principal model of continental construction at Pacific-type or accretionary orogens, including formation of juvenile and recycled continental crust at major tectonic domains and associated types of magmatism (modified after Groves et al., 1998; I. Safonova et al., 2011). Numbers in circles show the main magmatic (1, 2) and tectonic (3, 4) stages of continental construction: 1 – formation of juvenile crust in intra-oceanic arcs (TTG-type and mafic magmatism); 2 – formation of juvenile and recycled crust at continental arcs (mafic to felsic magmatism) and in intra-plate settings (mafic and bimodal magmatism related to rifting/mantle plumes); 3 – accretion of oceanic, island-arc terranes and microcontinental terranes; and 4 – collision of terranes.



**Fig. 2.** A general tectonic outline of Asia: major cratonic blocks, microcontinents, Pacific and collision-type orogenic belts (modified from Maruyama and Sakai, 1986; Maruyama et al., 1989; Safonova and Maruyama, 2014). Numbers in circles for orogenics belts: 1 = Uralian, 2–6 = Central Asian (2 = Baikal–Muya, 3 = Yenisey–Transbaikalia–North Mongolia, 4 = Altay–Sayan–NW Mongolia, 5 = Irtysh–Zaisan, 6 = Tienshan), 7 = South Inner Mongolia, 8 = Mongol–Okhotsk, 9 = Sikhote–Alin, 10 = Verkhoyansk, 11 = Okhotsk–Chukotka, 12 = South Anyui, 13 = West Kamchatka, 14 = Pamir–Hindukush, 15 = Kunlun–Qinling, 16 = Tibet–Himalaya, and 17 = South China. CAOB, Central Asian Orogenic Belt; and AHOB, Alpine-Himalayan Orogenic Belt. For details about CAOB units see Figs. 4 and 10. The outlines of main microcontinents are very relative and shown out of scale.

will be given to the links between geological, geochemical and isotope data.

# Formation and transformation of continental crust in Central and East Asia is a focus of Project#592 "Continental construction in the Central Asian Orogenic Belt compared to actualistic examples in the western Pacific" of the International Geoscience Program (2012–2016) supported by UNESCO and International Union of Geosciences (https://sites.google.com/site/igcp592/), which the author of this paper is a leader of together with Profs. Reimar Seltmann, Min Sun and Wenjiao Xiao. This paper reviews results of the 4 years of author's project activity.

# 2. Pacific-type orogens as Earth's principal sites of continental growth: definition and recognition

The Pacific-type orogenic belts form above the subduction zones, where oceanic lithosphere is submerged under active continental margins (Fig. 3A). The Pacific-type belts are the most important sites of juvenile crust formation through subduction-related TTG-type granitoid magmatism (i.e., calc-alkaline andesitic volcanism) and M- and I-type granitoid magmatism and through accretion of various fragments of oceanic lithosphere (i.e., oceanic islands, plateaux and ridges) and continental crust, such as island arcs and microcontinents



**Fig. 3.** Major features of accretionary or Pacific-type (P-type) and Alpine-type or collisional (C-type) orogenic belts (modified from Maruyama et al., 1996; Santosh et al., 2010). Abbreviations: MORB, mid-oceanic ridge basalt; MP, medium pressure; high-P/T, high temperature–high pressure; OIB, oceanic island basalt; OPB, oceanic plateau basalt; OPS, ocean plate stratigraphy; and TTG, tonalite-trondhjemite-granodiorite.

(Maruyama et al., 1996; Santosh et al., 2010; Maruyama et al., 2011). As a result, the subduction forms accretionary complexes, which, together with accreted terranes, finally enlarge the continents. Consequently, the most important "diagnostic" constituents of Pacific-type orogens are intra-oceanic arcs, ocean plate stratigraphy (OPS), blueschist belts and accretionary complexes, which may include fragments of the former three (Table 1; Fig. 6).

The intra-oceanic arcs form at convergent margins, in the upper "stable" plate, when the subducting plate submerges to the depths of melting, i.e., to ca. 50-100 km (Fig. 6A). Many scientists believe that intra-oceanic arcs are most important sites of juvenile continental crust formation and that the subduction-related TTG-type granitoid magmatism is a main contributor to continental growth (e.g., Clift et al., 2003; Stern, 2010; Maruyama et al., 2011; Safonova and Maruyama, 2014). The intra-oceanic arcs may consist of volcanic flows of dominantly basalt-andesite-(boninite) composition and tonalitediorite-granodiorite plutons. The composition of both types of magmatic rocks depends on the amount of water released from the subducting hydrated oceanic slab, which, in turn, is determined by the distance from the trench. Consequently, at early stages of IOA evolution, the subduction produces fore-arc depleted tholeiitic basalts, and esibasalts and boninites. In time and with distance away from the subduction zone, i.e., continentward, the supra-subduction magmatism proceeds at lower degrees of melting and produces calc-alkaline, alkaline and shoshonitic andesitic to felsic series, more enriched in incompatible elements.

The ocean plate stratigraphy represents a regular succession of sedimentary and magmatic rocks that were deposited on the sea floor as the underlying oceanic basement made its inevitable journey from its formation at a mid-ocean ridge to its demise at a deep sea trench (e.g., Isozaki et al., 1990; Maruyama et al., 2010; Kusky et al., 2013). The "standard" model for OPS includes typical Penrose type ophiolite, grading down from pelagic sediments to basalts, gabbros, and ultramafics formed on the oceanic floor (Fig. 6B). As the oceanic plate moves towards the trench, the pelagic sedimentation continues until the plate enters the trench. At this point, the pelagic sediments and their underlying lavas become covered by hemipelagic shale/mudstone, greywacke and turbidite (Kusky et al., 2013). If a topographic rise or oceanic rise (seamount, island, plateau) is present on the oceanic floor, the OPS will be added by oceanic island carbonate cap and carbonate-siliceous-volcanic epiclastic slope facies and breccia. At convergent margins, OPS units may be accreted to island arcs/continental margins or tectonically eroded and subducted, carrying water and carbonate-rich materials deep into the mantle. The presence of accreted seamount OPS units in foldbelts is a key signature of a Pacific-type orogen.



Fig. 4. A general scheme of the Central Asian Orogenic Belt showing major orogenic belts (italic font) and microcontinents or their groups (pink lines) plus surrounding tectonic structures (compiled using Ren et al., 1999; Windley et al., 2007; Yarmolyuk et al., 2011; Kröner et al., 2014; Safonova and Santosh, 2014; Guy et al., 2015; Buriánek et al., in this issue; Degtyarev et al., in this issue; Dolgopolova et al., 2017-in this issue). Stars: accreted OIB (golden), blueschist (blue), intra-oceanic arc (green). Accretionary complexes: Ag, Agardag; Ak, Akiyoshi; Bg, Bayanhongor (Burg Gol); Ch, Chichibu; Dr., Darbut; Dz, Darbut; Dz, Darbut; Tz, Dzhida; FK, Fan-Karategin; II, Ilchir; Kb, Kurtushibin; KI, Kalamaili; KhT, Khan-Taish, Truno-Tamba; KM, Kiselevka-Manoma; Nz, Naizawa; O, Oka (Hug, Shishedhid); Sg, Smagin; Sh, Shimanto; Sk, Solonker; Sm, Samarka; Ta, Tangbale; To, Anar-Dais, IC, Chatchal-Kurama continental arc; MC, microcontinents (TM, Tuva-Mongolia; Taub, 3, Tur, Tangbale; To, Bayen, To, Bayen; Sh, South Gobi; SM, South Gobi; SM,



Fig. 5. Isotope-based proportions of juvenile and recycled crust in the CAOB. A, Nd and Hf isotopic data based estimates of the volume distribution of juvenile continental crust (modified from Condie and Kröner, 2013); B, the peaks of U–Pb crystallization ages for over 7000 detrital zircons obtained worldwide (Campbell and Allen, 2008) and the respective portions of juvenile crust (modified from Hawkesworth et al., 2010). Settings of juvenile crust formation (for A): IOA, intra-oceanic arcs; ConA, continental arc; OJC, other juvenile crust terranes (e.g., intra-plate igneous fields). The names of supercontinents (for B) are after Santosh et al., 2014.

Blueschist is a metabasite, containing Na-amphibole stable at relatively high-P and low-T conditions. The term "blueschist belt" (BSB) refers to the blueschist-assemblage-bearing part of an orogen, which may also include metagraywacke and marble, as well as eclogite-facies rocks. BSBs are markers of fossil subduction zones, because they form during the stop/cessation of subduction often accompanied by exhumation of buried metamorphic rocks, and therefore are of high tectonic significance (Miyashiro, 1973; Xiao et al., 1994; Maruyama et al., 1996). BSBs may be part of paired metamorphic belts, which are spatially related, i.e., located side-by-side, metamorphic belts of low dP/dT (greenschist, and alusitesillimanite) and high dT/dP (blueschist, eclogite) (Miyashiro, 1961; Oxburgh and Turcotte, 1971; Brown, 2010; Fig. 6C). The paired metamorphic belts were first recognized in Japan (Miyashiro, 1961; Maruyama, 1997); similar belts in different Phanerozoic orogenic belts have been subsequently identified and are thought to indicate destructive convergent margins (e.g., Zhang et al., 1993; Maruyama et al., 1996; Brown, 2010). BSBs are classified into two types according to the protoliths. In Pacific-type orogens, the protoliths for blueschists are rocks forming an accretionary complex, i.e., OPS units, including MORB, OIB, seamount (pure) limestone and turbidite. The protoliths of blueschists in C-type orogens are continental basement granite-gneiss complexes and their overlying peraluminous sediments, impure limestones and bimodal volcanic series (Table 1).

The accretionary complexes consist of an accretionary wedge or prism and subduction-related metamorphic units. The accretionary wedge forms by off-scrapping and underplating accretion to the nonsubducting tectonic plate or the landward slope of trench. Lithologically, accretionary wedge is dominated by OPS units plus terrigeneous trench sediments, oceanward olistostrome, tectonic and serpentinite mélanges. After cessation of accretion and subduction, accretionary wedge together with blueschists and other exhumed metamorphic rocks form accretionary complex (Fig. 6D). During subduction, slices and sheets of scrapped-off rocks pile next to each other along reverse or thrust faults resulting in formation of a very complicated structure. Structurally, an accretionary complex is dominated by duplexes and thrust imbricates characterized by inward younging of beds within each sheet and overall outward younging. A key element of accretionary complex is a duplex structure formed in the hanging wall of the trench; its geometry and the direction of bed younging can be used to determine the direction of subduction or "subduction polarity" (e.g., Isozaki et al., 1990; Maruyama et al., 2010; Wakita, 2012; Safonova and Santosh, 2014; Fig. 6D).

The field and laboratory recognition of OPS, IOAs, BSBs and ACs is necessary for differentiation of Himalayan-type or Pacific-type belts. Pacifictype orogens can be recognized by the presence of: (i) blueschists formed after mid-oceanic ridge basalt (MORB) and oceanic island or plateau basalt (OIB/OPB); (ii) dominantly mafic boninite-bearing island arcs; (iii) accreted oceanic rises, especially those capped by carbonates; (iv) paired metamorphic belts; and (v) huge supra-subduction granitoid batholiths (see Table 1 and Safonova and Maruyama, 2014). The accretionary complexes, OPS units and blueschist belts of the CAOB have been reviewed in Volkova and Sklyarov (2007) and Safonova and Santosh (2014). The list of OIB-bearing OPS and intra-oceanic arcs with

#### Table 1

Main features of accretion-type and collision-type orogenic belts (modified from Maruyama et al., 1996; Safonova and Maruyama, 2014).

Rock types/other aspects	P-type: subduction-related orogens with accretionary complexes	H-type: collision-related orogens built over continental basement
Key lithologies		
Shallow-marine sediments	Reefal limestone, volcanogenic-carbonate breccia, often Z-folded, siliceous shale and mudstone (OPS)	Thick platform carbonate and clastics
Deep-sea sediments	Bedded chert often with manganese-nodules (OPS)	Absent
Turbidite	thick and immature trench-fill graywackes (mafic to andesitic)	Platform cover (peraluminous and carbonate-rich deposits)
Terrigenous fan	deep-marine flysch/forearc covering OPS	continental molasse and/or foreland basin
Volcanic units	Mafic to andesitic and felsic lavas	Bimodal (basalt and dacite) lavas
Intrusive rocks	Huge subduction-related granitoid batholiths	Syn-collisional (I and S-type) and post-collisional (A-type) granitoids
Related metamorphic belts		
Key metamorphic assemblages	Blueschist, greenschist, HP-UHP	Blueschist, MP (kyanite-sillimanite), UHP
Blueschist protoliths	MORB, OIB	Peraluminous, pelitic, bi-modal
Metamorphosed peridotites	Strongly serpentinized spinel- and plagioclase-bearing peridotites	Strongly metamorphosed garnet- and spinel-peridotite
Paired metamorphic belts	May be present	Absent
Other aspects		
Continental basement	Absent	Abundant granite-gneiss complexes
Ore	black smokers, Fe-Mn and volcanogenic-sedimentary deposits	Petroleum (foredeep troughs), gold from quartz veins; gems
Intra-oceanic arc boninites	May present	Always absent
Structural features	Duplex OPS structures; dominantly asymmetric folds and small thrusts	Variable deformation styles to form buckling, huge thrusts, etc.

Abbreviations: HP-UHP - high pressure-ultra high pressure; MORB - mid-oceanic ridge basalt; MP - medium pressure; OIB - oceanic island basalt; and OPS - Ocean Plate Stratigraphy.



**Fig. 6.** Major diagnostic features of Pacific-type orogenic belts: Intra-oceanic arcs (A), Ocean Plate Stratigraphy including accreted seamounts (B), paired metamorphic belts (C), and accretionary complexes (D). A, a typical intra-oceanic arc system with adjacent back-arc basin showing major crustal and upper mantle components and major sites of melt generation: 1 – at mid-oceanic ridges, 2 – above the subducting slabs (modified from Stern, 2010); B, OPS with seamounts (modified from Maruyama et al., 2010; Safonova et al., 2016b); C, principal scheme of formation of paired metamorphic belts, whose key component is the MORB-OIB derived blueschist (modified from the website of the Society for Sedimentary Geology, http://www.sepmstrata.org/ ); D, structurally complex accretionary wedges (modified from Wakita, 2012).

or without blueschists in the CAOB, including their location and age, are shown in Tables 2, 3.

#### 3. The Central Asian Orogenic Belt: world's largest Pacific-type orogen

#### 3.1. Definition, brief history and key terranes

The Central Asian Orogenic Belt (CAOB) is the world's largest accretionary orogen, formed during the Neoproterozoic to Paleozoic evolution of the Paleo-Asian Ocean and multi-stage collisions of the Siberian, Tarim and North China cratonic blocks, Kazakhstan and Mongolian Precambrian terranes (Fig. 4). In late Paleozoic time, the amalgamating CAOB was also affected by the collision with the East European Craton and formation of the Uralian Orogenic Belt (Puchkov, 1997). Formation of CAOB started from accretion of numerous Neoproterozoic intra-oceanic arc terranes to the southern margin of the Siberian Craton, reaching its peak during the late Neoproterozoic to the early Paleozoic (e.g., Buslov et al., 2001; Turkina, 2002; Gordienko et al., 2010) (Table 2). During the rest of the Phanerozoic, accretion of oceanic to intra-oceanic arc terranes and probably Gondwana-derived microcontinents continued at the southern active margin of the Siberian Craton with contribution to the intra-plate mafic and granitoid magmatism (e.g., Kovalenko et al., 2004; Windley et al., 2007; Safonova, 2009; Xiao et al., 2009, 2010; Safonova et al., 2011; Yarmolyuk et al., 2012; Donskaya et al., 2013; H. Yang et al., 2015).

The subduction ceased diachronously in the late Paleozoic-Mesozoic after the closure of the Paleo-Asian Ocean and its Turkestan, Junggar and Mongol-Okhotsk branches with relevant rocks occurring in East Kazakhstan (Safonova et al., 2012; Safonova and Santosh, 2014), South Tienshan (Biske and Seltmann, 2010; Wang et al., 2011; Safonova et al., 2016a), Junggar (Wang et al., 2003; G. Yang et al., 2015) and Far East (Dobretsov et al., 2003: Donskava et al., 2013: H. Yang et al., 2015), and collision of the Siberian Craton with the Tarim and North China cratons and the Kazakhstan continent to become part of Laurasia (e.g., Safonova and Maruyama, 2014). Formation of the central part of CAOB is related to the Paleozoic collisions of the Tuva-Mongol, Dzabkhan (Baydaric, Baydrag), Tarbagatai and South Gobi microcontinents with the Siberian Craton (e.g., Didenko et al., 1994; Salnikova et al., 2001; Kozakov et al., 2007; Demoux et al., 2009). Western part of CAOB was formed during the Middle Paleozoic collision of the Kazakhstan continent with the Siberian active continental margin. This produced the Altai orogen, extending from Russia across eastern Kazakhstan and China to Mongolia (e.g., Buslov et al., 2001; Xiao et al., 2010; Glorie et al., 2011; Safonova, 2014). Collisions between the Kazakhstan continent and Tarim Craton and smaller microcontinents formed the Tienshan orogenic belt (e.g., Gao et al., 1998; Chen et al., 1999; Xiao et al., 2004; Charvet et al., 2007; Biske and Seltmann, 2010; Wang et al., 2010). The eastern part of CAOB was formed during the Late Permian to Triassic approach of the North China and Siberian Cratons and collision of the former with the island-arc terranes and microcontinents at the southern margin of the latter (e.g., Zhao et al., 1990; Xiao et al., 2004; Zhao et al., 2013; Zhou and Wilde, 2013; H. Yang et al., 2015: Li et al., 2016).

During the last 15 years, there has been much discussion about the mechanisms of the CAOB formation, e.g., extended long-living arc versus numerous arcs and microcontinents (e.g., Sengör and Natal'in, 1996; Didenko et al., 1994; Buslov et al., 2001; Windley et al., 2007; Xiao et al., 2010; Safonova et al., 2011 and references therein), the nature of its continental crust, i.e., juvenile versus recycled, the

#### Table 2

Major intra-oceanic arcs of the Central Asian Orogenic Belt.

No.	Terrane name	Location	Age	Bon	BSB	References
1	Dunzhugur	NW Mongolia–eastern Tuva, Russia	Neoproterozoic	Yes	Yes	Kuzmichev et al. (2001)
2	Aksu	Western Chinese Tienshan	Neoproterozoic		Yes	Zhu et al. (2011)
3	Shishkhid (Oka-Hugein)	NW Mongolia–eastern Tuva, Russia	Late Neoproterozoic	Yes	Yes	Kuzmichev et al. (2005)
4	Kurtushibin	East Sayan, Russia	Late Neoproterozoic	Yes	Yes	Dobretsov et al. (1992), Volkova et al. (2009)
5	Agardag	NW Mongolia-SE Tuva, Russia	Late Neoproterozoic			Pfänder et al. (2002)
6	Dariv	Western Mongolia	Late Neoproterozoic			Dijkstra et al. (2006)
7	Khan-Taishirin	Western Mongolia	Late Neoproterozoic	Yes		Izokh et al. (1998)
8	Tannu-Ola	Western Tuva, Russia	Late Neoproterozoic			Mongush et al. (2011)
9	Lake	Western Mongolia	ca. 570 Ma			Kozakov et al. (2007); Kovach et al. (2011)
10	Dzhida	N. Mongolia-Transbaikalia (Russia)	l. Neoproterozoic-Early Cambrian	Yes		Gordienko et al. (2007)
11	Kurai	Southern Russian Altai	$598 \pm 25$ Ma	Yes	Yes	Simonov et al. (1994); Buslov et al. (2002)
12	Katun	Northern Russian Altai	early Cambrian	Yes		Buslov et al. (1998), Safonova et al. (2011a)
13	Bozshakol-Chingiz	East Kazakhstan	late Cambrian	Yes		Shen et al. (2015), Degtyarev (2011)
14	Dzhalair-Naiman	Northern Kyrgyz Tienshan	Cambrian			Ryazantsev et al. (2009)
15	Selety/Severny Segment	Northern Kazakhstan	Late Cambrian-early Ordovician	Yes		Windley et al. (2007), Degtyarev (2011)
16	Fan-Karategin	Southern Tienshan, Tajikistan	Ordovician		Yes	Volkova and Budanov (1999)
17	Tangbale	Western Junggar, NW China	Ordovician		Yes	X. Xiao et al. (1994)
18	Kentash arc	Western Kyrgyz Range, northern Tienshan	Middle Ordovician			Degtyarev et al. (2012)
19	Gobi Altai	SW Mongolia	Late Ordovician—early Silurian	Yes		Dergunov et al. (2001), Guy et al. (2015)
20	Kyzylkum (Chatkal) arc	Turkestan-Alai, Uzbekistan	Silurian			Biske and Seltmann (2010), Dolgopolova et al.
						(2017-in this issue)
21	Dananhu-Tousuquan arc	West Junggar	Late Silurian			Xiao et al. (2015)
22	Dulate arc, Shaerbulake Fm.	East Junggar	Early Devonian	Yes		Zhang et al. (2005)
23	Kuerti	NE Junggar, NW China	Middle Devonian	Yes		Wang et al. (2003)
24	Kangbutiebao	Southern Chinese Altai	Devonian	Yes		Niu et al. (2006)
25	Char arc	East Kazakhstan	Late Devonian or Early Carboniferous	Yes	Yes	Volkova et al. (2008), Kurganskaya et al. (2014)
26	Bogda arc	N. Chinese Tienshan	Late Carboniferous			Xie et al. (2016)
27	Solonker arc	Inner Mongolia	Early Permian	Yes	Yes	Jian et al. (2010)

Bon, boninite; and BS, blueschist.

proportions of juvenile and recycled crust (e.g., Jahn et al., 2000; Safonova et al., 2011; Yarmolyuk et al., 2012; Kröner et al., 2014) and/ or the size, age and constituents of the continents and the number of microcontinents incorporated into the CAOB (Dobretsov and Buslov, 2007; Levashova et al., 2010). A contribution to understanding the nature of the CAOB can be made by recognition of IOAs, accreted terranes of seamount OPS and BSBs hosted by and/or associated with the numerous late Neoproterozoic to Mesozoic accretionary complexes present in Central and East Asia (Safonova and Santosh, 2014).

#### 3.2. Intra-oceanic arcs

Identification of intra-oceanic arcs is of primary importance for recognizing the Pacific-type orogenic belts because they have the highest rate of TTG generation, i.e., of juvenile crust. The key indicative features of IOAs are: (i) the presence of boninites; (ii) predominantly (about 70%) mafic (basalt-andesibasalt) composition of rocks in modern IOAs (e.g., Gil, 1981; Kelemen et al., 2003); and (iii) immature turbidite (greywacke) and deep-sea flysch (Fig. 6A). The CAOB hosts widespread intra-oceanic arcs, many of them with boninites (Tables 1, 2; Fig. 4). The intra-oceanic arcs of CAOB are related to the evolution of the Paleo-Asian Ocean including its probable two major branches, Turkestan Ocean (or South Tienshan) and Mongol-Okhotsk Ocean, and active margins of the Siberian, Kazakhstan, and North China continents. Numerous late Neoproterozoic to Carboniferous intra-oceanic arcs of the Paleo-Asian Ocean (most of them include boninites) outcrop in Transbaikalia and northern Mongolia, Tuva and northwestern Mongolia, western Mongolia, Russian-Kazakh-Chinese-Mongolian Altai, western and eastern Junggar, southern Mongolia and Inner Mongolia (e.g., Simonov et al., 1994; Izokh et al., 1998; Buslov et al., 1998, 2001; Pfänder et al., 2002; Dobretsov et al., 2003; Kovalenko et al., 2004; Dijkstra et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 2005; Niu et al., 2006; Gordienko et al., 2007; Ota et al., 2007; Gordienko et al., 2010; Jian et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2014) (Table 2). Early Paleozoic intra-oceanic arcs of the Turkestan Ocean have been identified in the South Fergana zone of the western Tienshan, e.g., the Ordovician Taldyk Formation (Burtman, 2008). Subduction of the Mongol-Okhotsk Ocean, an eastern branch of the Paleo-Asian Ocean (Didenko et al., 1994; Dobretsov et al., 1995; Donskaya et al., 2013; Ruppen et al., 2014), produced Carboniferous to Permian IOAs in Inner Mongolia, northeast China and Russian Far East: the better known are the Early Carboniferous Baolidao arc (309 Ma) and Late Carboniferous-Permian Hegenshan arc in Inner Mongolia (e.g., Chen et al., 2000; Dergunov et al., 2001; Miao et al., 2008). The amount of the late Neoproterozoic intra-oceanic arcs is much greater than that of middle and late Paleozoic arcs (Fig. 4; Table 2). Western part of the Paleo-Asian Ocean, including the Turkestan branch, was progressively sutured during the Carboniferous and Permian, whereas its eastern part, i.e., the Mongol-Okhotsk Ocean, remained opened until the Jurassic (e.g., Zonenshain et al., 1990; Gordienko, 1994; Dobretsov et al., 1995; Buslov et al., 2001; Biske and Seltmann, 2010).

#### 3.3. Accreted oceanic islands/seamounts/plateaus

The second important feature of the Pacific-type orogens is accreted OPS of oceanic rises or seamount OPS, which is characteristic of Pacific convergent margins only (e.g., Isozaki et al., 1990; Kanmera and Sano, 1991; Safonova, 2009; Kusky et al., 2013; Safonova and Santosh, 2014). Seamount OPS includes OIB, OPB, MORB, foothill siliceous sediments (chert, shale, mudstone), carbonate-siliceous-volcanic epiclastic slope facies and breccia, and oceanic island carbonate cap (Fig. 6B). The oceanic rises typically form during the passage of subducting oceanic plate over the mantle plume head to be finally accreted and/or partially and fully eroded at convergent margins and subducted deep into the mantle (e.g., Hofmann, 1997; Maruyama et al., 2007; Clift et al., 2009; Scholl and von Huene, 2007; Safonova, 2009; Safonova and Maruyama, 2014). The CAOB hosts numerous accreted oceanic rises tracing almost continuous archives of seamount OPS from

#### Table 3

Accretionary complexes of the Central Asian Orogenic Belt with accreted OIB-OPS (modified and upgraded from Safonova and Santosh, 2014)

Terrane <sup>a</sup>	Geography	Age of seamount (or associated OPS)	Age of accretion	References <sup>b</sup>
Oka	NW Mongolia–E. Tuva, Siberia (Russia)	Late Neoproterozoic	Latest Neoproterozoic	Kuzmichev et al. (2005)
llchir (ll)	N. Mongolia-W. Sayan, Siberia	Late Neoproterozoic	Cambrian–Early Ordovician	Kuzmichev et al. (2001), Dobretsov et al. (1992)
Kurtushibin (Kb)	E. Sayan, Siberia (Russia)	Late Neoproterozoic	Cambrian–Early Ordovician	Dobretsov et al. (1992), Volkova et al. (2009)
Agardag (Ag)	NW Mongolia-SE Tuva, Siberia (Russia)	$569 \pm 2 \text{ Ma}$	Early Cambrian	Pfänder et al. (2002)
Tannu-Ola (TO)	western Tuva, southern Siberia	Late Neoproterozoic	Cambrian-Early Ordovician	Mongush et al. (2011)
Lake	western Mongolia	ca. 570 Ma	Middle-Late Cambrian	Yarmolyuk et al. (2011), Kovach et al. (2011)
Dzhida (Dz)	N. Mongolia-Transbaikalia (Russia)	L. Neoproterozoic-E. Cambrian	Early Ordovician–Early Devonian	Belichenko (1969), Cordienko et al. (2007)
Bayanhongor (BH)	Central Mongolia	$569 \pm 21 \text{ Ma}$	Late Cambrian	Kepezhinskas et al. (1991), Buchan et al. (2001)
Kurai (Kr)	Southern Russian Altai	598 + 25 Ma	Middle Cambrian	Safonova (2009)
Katun (Kt)	Northern Russian Altai	Early Cambrian	Middle Cambrian	Safonova et al. (2011a)
Zasur'va (Zs)	Northwestern Russian Altai	Late Cambrian	Early Devonian	Safonova et al. (2011b)
Tangbale (Tn)	West Junggar, NW China	EM. Ordovician,	L. Devonian	Xiao et al. (1994), G. Yang et al. (2015)
Maile	West Junggar, NW China	L. Silurian (Wenlock-Pridoli)	L. Devonian	G. Yang et al. (2015)
Karamay (Km)	West Junggar, NW China	EM. Devonian	Late Carboniferous	G. Yang et al. (2015)
Darbut (Db)	West Junggar, NW China	middle-late Devonian	Late Carboniferous	G. Yang et al. (2015)
Fan-Karategin (FK)	S. Tienshan, Tajikistan	Middle-Late Devonian	Carboniferous	Volkova and Budanov (1999)
Kokshaal (Ks)	central Tienshan, Kyrgyzstan	Middle-Late Devonian	Late Carboniferous	Safonova et al. (2016a)
Ulaanbaatar (UB)	Hentey Range, N. Mongolia	L. Silurian-E. Devonian	Early Carboniferous	Safonova and Santosh (2014)
Kalamaili (Kl)	East Junggar, E. China	L. Devonian - E. Carboniferous	Late Carboniferous	Zhang et al. (2009)
Char	East Kazakhstan	L. Devonian - E. Carboniferous	Late Carboniferous	Safonova et al. (2012)
Bayingu (Bg)	Southern Junggar	L. Devonian - E. Carboniferous	Late Carboniferous	Gao et al. (1998),
				Xu et al. (2006)
Solonker (Sk)	Inner Mongolia	295 $\pm$ 15, 298 $\pm$ 9 Ma	Late Permian	Miao et al. (2008),
				Jian et al. (2010)
Akiyoshi	SW Japan	M. Carboniferous	Early Permian	Isozaki et al. (1990),
				Kanmera and Sano (1991)
Khabarosvk (Kh)	Western Sikhote-Alin	Carboniferous-Permian	Early Permian	Safonova (2009)
Mino-Tamba (MT)	Central Japan	Permian	Early-Middle Jurassic	Isozaki et al. (1990), Safonova et al. (2016b)
Samarka (Sm)	Central Sikhote-Alin	Carboniferous-Permian	Middle-Late Jurassic	Golozubov (2006)
Chichibu (Ch)	SE Japan	Triassic	Jurassic-Early Cretaceous	Wakita (2012), Ishizuka et al. (2003)
Taukha (Ta)	Southern Sikhote-Alin	ML. Triassic	Jurassic-Early Cretaceous	Golozubov (2006)
Kiselevka-Manoma (KM)	Northern Sikhote-Alin	M. Jurassic	Early Cretaceous	Filippov et al. (2010)
Naizawa (Nz)	Hokkaido, Japan	L. Jurassic	Early Cretaceous	Ueda et al. (2000)
Shimanto (Sm)	SE Japan	E. Cretaceous	Late Cretaceous	Taira et al. (1988)
Smagin (Sg)	East Kamchatka	L. Cretaceous	Late Cretaceous	Saveliev (2003)

a – abbreviations in parentheses match those in Fig. 4; and b – key selected references for geology and geochemistry are shown in this column. E., early; M., middle; and L., late.

the Neoproterozoic to the Permian and tracking oceanic plume magmatism (Safonova and Santosh, 2014; Table 3). Most localities of accreted seamount OPS in the CAOB can be divided into two major groups, Late Neoproterozoic-Cambrian and Devonian-Permian, plus a less abundant group of Ordovician-Silurian units. The Late Neoproterozoic-Cambrian seamounts, formed in the Paleo-Asian Ocean, were accreted to the IOAs and active margins of the Siberian and Tarim cratons and Tuva-Mongolian and Dzabkhan microcontinents. The Ordovician-Silurian oceanic intra-plate magmatism, probably less intensive and/or extensive, produced oceanic rises in the Turkestan Ocean. They were accreted to the active margins of the Kazakhstan continent and Tarim craton. The Devonian-Permian seamount OPS recorded the final stages of the Paleo-Asian Ocean and the intra-plate environments in the Mongol-Okhotsk Ocean; those oceanic rises were accreted to the active margins of the Siberia and Tarim cratons and Kazakhstan continent (Safonova, 2008, 2009; Safonova et al., 2011a, 2011b, 2012; Safonova and Santosh, 2014). The seamounts formed in the Paleo-Pacific Ocean in late Paleozoic and Meso-Cenozoic time are currently hosted by the accretionary complexes of the Russian Far East and Japanese Islands. A

part of those accretionary complexes is often considered as previously single units later separated by the Sea of Japan, which opened at ca. 15 Ma (Kojima et al., 2000; Safonova, 2009; Filippov et al., 2010; Safonova and Santosh, 2014).

#### 3.4. Blueschist belts

The third important characteristics for recognition of the Pacific-type belts is blueschists formed after oceanic basalts, as they mark fossil subduction zones and are therefore key indicators of Pacific-type convergent margins. In the CAOB, localities of blueschists, formed after MORB and OIB, have been discovered in many accretionary complexes of Transbaikalia-northern Mongolia, Altai-Sayan, eastern Kazakhstan, Russian and Chinese Altai, Tajik, Kyrgyz and Chinese Tienshan and in Inner Mongolia (Fig. 4; Table 2; e.g., Gao et al., 1995; Buslov et al., 1998; Volkova and Budanov, 1999; Volkova and Sklyarov, 2007; Volkova et al., 2009; Gao et al., 2011; Safonova and Maruyama, 2014; Safonova and Santosh, 2014). In general, three groups of BSBs can be recognized according to their age and location: (1) Late Neoproterozoic-Early Cambrian BSBs of Transbaikalia-northern Mongolia (North Muya, Oka, Kurtushiba) and Altai-Sayan regions (Borus, Kurai, Uimon); (2) Ordovician BSBs of eastern Kazakhstan (Char or Chara or Charsk), West Junggar (Tangbale) and Inner Mongolia (Ondor Sum); and (3) Devonian-Carboniferous BSBs of southern Tienshan (Fan-Karategin, Atbashi, Tonghuashal, Kekesu-Akeyazi). They occur as slices and/or lenses, e.g., the Oka and Kurtushiba BSBs of western Transbaikalia and the Uimon BSB of the Russian Altai, or as blocks in mélange, e.g., the Chara BSB of eastern Kazakhstan and Borus BSB of North Sayan. The BSBs are spatially associated with coeval or older OPS and/or accretionary complexes. The protoliths of blueschists are mostly N-MORB or enriched OIB basalts (e.g., Volkova and Budanov, 1999; Gao and Klemd, 2003; Ai et al., 2006; Volkova and Sklyarov, 2007; Volkova et al., 2009). The blueschist mineral assemblages include Na-Ca amphiboles (glaucophane, lawsonite), epidote, clinozoisite, chlorite, albite, pumpellyite, calcite, quartz, stilpnomelane and phengite/muscovite plus accessory rutile, titanite and magnetite. Blueschists typically occur at the base of accreted OPS or in lower units of accretionary complex (Wakita, 2012) (Fig. 6D). Their presence in an accretionary complex suggests that a part of subducted OPS (basaltic) was separated from the descending slab and then quickly uplifted. Possible mechanisms of exhumation could be either the reverse currents in accretionary wedge caused by seamount - island arc or island arc - active margin collisions, or the release of large amounts of water due to strong dehydration of subducting serpentinite-rich slab (Volkova and Sklyarov, 2007).

The widespread Neoproterozoic to late Paleozoic tholeiiteboninite intra-oceanic arcs, Neoproterozoic to Mesozoic seamount OPS units and Paleozoic MORB-OIB-derived blueschist belts in the CAOB clearly indicate that the latter was initiated and evolved as a Pacific-type orogen (Buslov et al., 1998; Pfänder et al., 2002; Gordienko et al., 2007; Volkova and Sklyarov, 2007; Yarmolyuk et al., 2012; Safonova and Maruyama, 2014; Safonova and Santosh, 2014). Consequently, the CAOB consists of numerous smaller P-type orogenic belts with subordinate collision-type belts formed by local continent-microcontinent collisions, e.g., Kazakhstan and North Tianshan, Kazakhstan and Tarim, Siberia and Tuva-Mongolia, Siberia and Dzabkhan (Mossakovsky et al., 1993; Didenko et al., 1994; Fedorovskii et al., 1995; Kheraskova et al., 2003; Kozakov et al., 2005; Charvet et al., 2007; Konopelko et al., 2008; Alexeiev et al., 2009; Biske and Seltmann, 2010; Levashova et al., 2010; Alexeiev et al., 2011; Han et al., 2011; Zheng et al., 2013). Thus, the Central Asian Orogenic Belt was a major supplier of juvenile crust in Asia during the Phanerozoic.

#### 4. Juvenile versus recycled crust in the CAOB

#### 4.1. Methodological background

The juvenile vs recycled (reworked) origin of continental crust has been commonly evaluated using the methods of isotope geochemistry: whole-rock Nd (e.g., Jahn et al., 2000; Turkina et al., 2007; Jahn, 2010; Kruk et al., 2011; Long et al., 2011; Urmantseva et al., 2012) or Hf-inzircon (e.g., Long et al., 2007; Belousova et al., 2010; Cai et al., 2011; Kröner et al., 2014; Chen et al., 2015). The advent, fast distribution and wide application of the Hf-in-zircon isotope methodology during the last 10 years allowed more reliable evaluation of the proportions of juvenile to recycled crust in older orogenic belts. Both methods are typically applied for magmatic and sedimentary rocks or for their hosted zircons, in particular, mafic rocks, granitoids and metasediments. Mafic rocks of supra-subduction complexes are studied by the wholerock Nd method (if their ages are known) for differentiating intraoceanic and active continental margin arcs, because the former are unambiguously juvenile as dominated by boninites, tholeiitic basalts and andesitic magmas with positive epsilon Nd values, whereas the latter may be formed by both juvenile igneous complexes consisting of tholeiitic to calc-alkaline basalts and andesites with positive epsilon Nd values and recycled magmas, i.e. shoshonitic, andesitic to felsic with negative positive epsilon Nd values. In addition, microcontinents,



Fig. 7. Plots of whole-rock Nd isotope characteristics of different segments of the CAOB. A, late Neoproterozoic-Early Paleozoic mafic and granitic rocks of the Russian Altai (Kruk et al., 2011; Safonova et al., 2011a, 2011b; IOA, intra-oceanic arc; ConA, continental arc); B, Early–Middle Paleozoic granitoids, metasediments and volcanic rocks of the Chinese Altai (Long et al., 2011); C, Early Paleozoic granitoids, metasediments and volcanic rocks of the Lake Zone, western Mongolia (Kovach et al., 2011); D, Early Paleozoic of the Stepnyak island-arc terrane in northern Kazakhstan (Heinhorst et al., 2000; Kröner et al., 2008).



Fig. 8. Plots of Hf-in-zircon isotope characteristics of several CAOB segments. A, recycled crust of the Kokchetav microcontinent (granitoids in circles, Glorie et al., 2015) and juvenile crust of the Baidaulet-Akbastau intra-oceanic arc (granitoids in crosses, Kröner et al., 2014); B, dominantly recycled crust of the Central Tienshan microcontinent (granitoids, Kröner et al., 2013, 2014; metasediments, Rojas-Agramonte et al., 2014); C, juvenile, mixed and recycled segments of the Chinese Altai (metasediments, Jiang et al., 2011; Long et al., 2011); D, dominantly juvenile crust of the Russian Altai inferred from metasediments (Chen et al., 2015).

when approaching and colliding an active margin, may serve as sources of crustal crust, typically recycled, which can be involved into suprasubduction magma generation. Granitoids of active margin terranes can be analyzed by both methods (whole-rock Nd and Hf-in-zircon) also to differentiate intra-oceanic and continental margin magmatic arcs or to define a dominant isotopic type of magma source in the latter:



Fig. 9. Microcontinents in the western and central CAOB (modified from Levashova et al., 2010). AM, Aktau–Mointy; Dz, Dzabkhan (including Baydrag); CM, Central Mongolian; ChN, Chatkal–Naryn; DA, Derba–Arzybey; GK, Greater Karatau; Jg, Junggar; Ko, Kokchetav; LK, Lesser Karatau; NTS, North Tien Shan (also referred to as Central Tien Shan); TB, Tarbagatai; TM, Tuva–Mongolian; Tu, Turpan (Turphan, Turfan); UK, Ulutau. In circles: BH, Bayanhongor ophiolite belt; L, Lake island-arc terrane. The boundaries and subdivisions of foldbelts are shown schematically – for more details see Fig. 4 and related references.



**Fig. 10**. The CAOB segments possessing isotope features of juvenile, mixed and recycled crust (based on Kröner et al., 2014, with modifications from Shen et al., 2015; R. Seltmann, pers. comm.). White stars mark an approximate location of the accretionary complexes with OPS-hosting OIB and OIB-MORB-derived blueschists, suggesting Pacific-type (accretionary) orogeny and, therefore, dominantly juvenile crust, but within the "recycled segments". The original fields are for the geology and Nd-isotope based juvenile crust areas of the Russian Altai (Gorny and Rudny Altai) and eastern Kazakhstan (dashed line). The eastern Kazakhstan area bears signs of tectonic erosion (see Section 5 and Fig. 14).

juvenile, mixed or recycled. Metasedimentary basins also can form in various tectonic settings: intra-oceanic arcs (greywacke turbidite basins), active continental margin or continental arcs (felsic to mafic turbidites) and microcontinents. Island-arc turbidite basins can be reliably identified by dominantly mafic composition and Nd isotopes (e.g., Kruk et al., 2011; Long et al., 2011) (Fig. 7). Continental arc terranes and related metasediments can be both juvenile or mixed, whereas old microcontinental terranes typically possess recycled isotope characteristics. Therefore, the differentiation of microcontinents from continental arcs needs the analysis of the Hf isotope ratios in detrital zircons of metasedimentary basins with an emphasis on the proportions of juvenile to recycled crust (e.g., Turkina et al., 2007; Sun et al., 2008; Jiang et al., 2011; Kruk et al., 2011; Salnikova et al., 2013) (Fig. 8). A special issue is the idea of mixed reservoirs of magma generation, which has been used to explain the isotopic heterogeneity of some magmatic complexes (Jahn, 2010; Cai et al., 2011; Kruk et al., 2011; Konopelko et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2013, 2014). However, some researchers think that the whole-rock Nd isotope systematics does not reflect source heterogeneity and that such a heterogeneity of Hf-in-zircon isotope characteristics may originate from initially mixed magma sources (Belousova et al., 2011; Kröner et al., 2014). At the same time, it is hard to prove whether those isotopically mixed magma sources and their derived melts can exist in principle. Of course, best results could be obtained by combining the Hf-in-zircon with whole-rock Nd isotopic systematics, but this is not always possible, as all mafic and metamorphic rocks may contain few, if not zero, zircons and such a "combined" approach would be very expensive and not always necessary or justified.

#### 4.2. Whole-rock Nd vs Hf-in-zircon data

The analysis of Nd and Hf isotope ratios in rocks and zircons of the CAOB is very important because the belt has a very complex history since formed by multiple episodes of oceanic subduction and accretion, collision and amalgamation of arcs, microcontinents and continents (see Section 3). They produced huge amounts of mafic to felsic magmas and sedimentary basins possessing both juvenile and mixed/recycled isotope characteristics. The Nd isotope data obtained from CAOB granitoids since the 2000s allowed researchers to introduce and confirm an idea that the CAOB was the most important site of juvenile crustal formation since the Neoproterozoic and to develop a general scenario of massive juvenile crust production in the CAOB with limited contribution of old microcontinents to the genesis of Phanerozoic granitoids (e.g., Chen et al., 2000; Jahn et al., 2000; Jahn, 2004; Jahn et al., 2004; Kovalenko et al., 2004; Yuan et al., 2007; Kröner et al., 2008; Yarmolyuk et al., 2012). Mafic rocks have been studied to a much lesser degree (e.g., Kovach et al., 2011; Safonova et al., 2011a, 2011b, 2012, 2016a). However, the previous geology- and geochemistry-based recognition of Precambrian terranes in the CAOB (e.g., Buslov et al., 2001; Dergunov et al., 2001; Kuzmichev et al., 2001; Salnikova et al., 2001; Badarch et al., 2002; Kozakov et al., 2005; Li et al., 2006), which has been supported by the recent Hf-in-zircon isotope data from the CAOB (e.g., Sun et al., 2008; Belousova et al., 2010; Kröner et al., 2012a, 2013) coupled with re-assessment of Nd isotope data (e.g., Rytsk et al., 2011) showed that the CAOB continental crust includes from 50 to 80% of recycled or re-worked crust (Condie and Kröner, 2013; Kröner et al., 2014 and references therein). This is typically explained by the presence of microcontinents (Figs. 9A, B; 10) or by the mixed sources of primary magmas (Fig. 7A, B; 8C).

The presence of numerous microcontinents in the CAOB is reflected in the whole-rock-Nd and Hf-in-zircon data obtained, for example, from the Barguzin terrane of the Baikal-Muya belt (Rytsk et al., 2011) and the Angara-Kan terrane of the Yenisey Range (Turkina et al., 2007) at the southern and south-western margins of the Siberian Craton, respectively, from the Kazakhstan terranes (Kröner et al., 2008, 2012a, 2012b, 2013) and from the Tuva-Mongolian, Dzabkhan and Tarbagatai terranes in Mongolia (e.g., Kozakov et al., 2005, 2007, 2011) (Fig. 9). Evidence for mixed magma sources comes from many recent Hf-in-zircon data from CAOB granitoids (e.g., Sun et al., 2008; Jahn, 2010; Cai et al., 2011; Konopelko et al., 2013; Kröner et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2013; Kröner et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2014).

The choice of suitable objectives for the Nd bulk rock and Hf-inzircon isotope studies is important as illustrated by the Nd and Hf data from the Neoproterozoic to early Paleozoic magmatic arcs in the Russian and Chinese Altai, western Mongolia and northern Kazakhstan in the western CAOB (Figs. 7, 8). The juvenile Nd bulk rock characteristics were obtained from granitoids, mafic volcanics of intra-oceanic arcs and oceanic islands as well as from their related turbidite basins in the



**Fig. 11.** Tectonic erosion at Pacific-type convergent margins. A and B, multi-channel seismic reflection profile plate (A) and its interpretation (B) across the axis and lower slope of the Japan trench along the 35°45 N' latitude, showing the subducted oceanic slab (modified from Hilde, 1983). The data for the profile were collected by the Japan National Oil Corporation for the IPOD Japan Trench transect (Shipboard Scientific Party, 1980). C, subduction-erosion model indicating areas of most severe fracturing and dragging of dislodged fragments into subduction channel (from von Huene et al., 2004).

Lake zone in Mongolia (Kovach et al., 2011; Fig. 8A) and Chinese and Russian Altai (Kruk et al., 2011; Long et al., 2011; Safonova et al., 2011a, 2011b) (Fig. 7B, C). Active continental margin granitoids of the Russian and Chinese Altai have positive to negative ENd and EHf values (Figs. 7B, C, 8C, D) (e.g., Sun et al., 2008; Cai et al., 2011; Jiang et al., 2011; Kruk et al., 2011; Long et al., 2011; Chen et al., 2015). The thick metasedimentary units of the southern Russian and Chinese Altai have been previously interpreted as Altai-Mongolian microcontinent (e.g., Hu et al., 2000; Buslov et al., 2001; Li et al., 2006; Glorie et al., 2011; Safonova, 2014), but their recent Hf-in-zircon study clearly showed they have mixed isotope characteristics implying rather an active continental margin (Sun et al., 2008; Cai et al., 2011; Jiang et al., 2011; Chen et al., 2015). Thus, whole rock Nd isotopes are sufficient for studying intra-oceanic arcs with boninites, blueschist and OPS, because they match the geological and lithological data suggesting formation of juvenile crust (see Section 2). The Hf isotopes can be used for the study of metasedimentary units and granitoids of unclear origin, for example, microcontinent vs active margin, intra-oceanic vs continental arc, active margin vs post-collisional granitoids. The Chinese Altai, representing a granitoid-rich terrane, appeared to be an Early Paleozoic continental magmatic arc based on both whole-rock Nd (Wang et al., 2009; Long et al., 2011; Fig. 7B) and Hf-in-zircon data (Sun et al., 2008; Cai et al., 2011; Jiang et al., 2011) (Fig. 8C). On the contrary, the Russian Altai includes boninite-bearing IOA and accretionary wedge with seamount OPS terranes, blueschists and turbidite basins with positive ɛNd values (Buslov et al., 1998; Safonova, 2008, 2009; Kruk et al., 2011) (Fig. 7C). Consequently, there was no need to analyze Hf-in-zircon isotopes (Chen et al., 2015) for understanding the nature of crust in that area.

Another example of disagreement between Hf-in-zircon and Nd isotope data comes from the Gissar terrane of the South Tien Shan and the Chatkal-Kurama terrane of the Middle Tien Shan in Uzbekistan. Carboniferous granitoids from these terranes show mostly negative  $\varepsilon$ Nd values, but dominantly positive  $\varepsilon$ Hf values (Dolgopolova et al., 2017-in this issue). In addition, the problem may be due to the gap between the DM and CHUR lines, which becomes greater as the rocks get younger.



Fig. 12. Examples of tectonic erosion and arc subduction from Japan. A, a typical succession of accretionary complexes of different ages reconstructed across the Shikoku island in southwestern Japan, showing that coeval arc granitoids and accretionary units must be separated by older accretionary wedges (from Safonova et al., 2015a, based on Nakajima, 1994); B, areas of probable tectonic erosion in Japan (outlined by red rectangles): there, the Cretaceous Ryoke granitoids are spatially adjacent to the coeval units of the Shimanto accretionary complex (from Isozaki et al., 2010; Safonova et al., 2015b).



Fig. 13. Intra-oceanic arcs directly subducting into the Nankai trough with minor or nil accretion over the subduction zone (modified from Yamamoto et al., 2009).

Therefore, we cannot expect the same "juvenile vs recycled proportions" if inferred from epsilon Hf and epsilon Nd data. Anyway, the reasons for those abnormal isotope behaviors remain controversial and require still focused study.

The "mixing" source model for the origin of the CAOB crust was mentioned in connection with the Kokchetav-Tienshan (or Kokchetav-Ishim) "superterrane" and Bochshakol-Chingiz arc in the western CAOB (Belousova et al., 2011; Degtyarev, 2011; Kröner et al., 2012b). However, this "superterrane" actually consists of geologically different terranes: the Stepnyak arc and the Kokchetav microcontinent in the north, Baidaulet-Akbastau arc in the center and the North Tienshan and Aktau-Junggar (or Aqtau-Mointy) microcontinents and the Middle Ordovician Kentash arc in the south (Fig. 9) (Bakirov and Maksumova, 2001; Obut et al., 2006; Windley et al., 2007; Biske and Seltmann, 2010; Degtyarev et al., 2012). The granitoids of the "superterrane" yielded variable, i.e., positive to negative, Hf isotope ratios, which were interpreted as mixing between juvenile magmas and older crustal protoliths (Belousova et al., 2011; Kröner et al., 2014), but the geological position, age and rock associations of the Kentash arc suggest its intra-oceanic origin (Degtyarev et al., 2012). The Stepnyak arc formed on a sialic basement, but lithologically its intrusions are dominated by TTG-type granitoids (tonalite and granodiorite) and showing mostly positive Nd isotopes (Kröner et al., 2008; Fig. 7D). The Baidaulet-Akbastau arc also displays juvenile Hf isotope characteristics (Kröner et al., 2014; Fig. 8A). The Kokchetav and North Tienshan microcontinents are dominated by granitoids with recycled isotope characteristics (Kröner et al., 2013; Glorie et al., 2015) (Fig. 8A, B). However, the metasediments from spatially distinct terranes of the northern Tianshan yielded both juvenile and recycled Hf isotope characteristics (Rojas-Agramonte et al., 2014; Fig. 8B) also suggesting a "multi-terrane" provenance or mixed results as well, which may require reconsideration against more careful analysis of tectonic units. Therefore, at least two explanations are possible for the wide range of Hf isotope ratios: (i) mixed juvenile and recycled magma protoliths; and (ii) sampling of both juvenile and recycled terranes from a tectonically composite superterrane (Figs. 2, 4; 8A). This particular area is considered in details in Degtyarev et al. (in this issue).

#### 4.3. Isotopes vs geology

Why do the Hf isotope data show a big portion of recycled crust in the CAOB in spite of the presence of numerous intra-oceanic arcs, MORB/OIB protolith blueschist and accreted seamount OPS (Table 1; Section 3; Figs. 4, 5, 7, 8)? Fig. 10 shows the CAOB segments of predominantly juvenile, mixed and recycled (reworked) crust, which were recognized by Kröner and co-authors based on Hf-in-zircon and whole-rock Nd isotope data (Kröner et al., 2014 and references therein). In addition, it shows Russian Altai, whose juvenile nature was proved many years ago by geological data (Simonov et al., 1994; Buslov et al., 1998, 2001, 2002) and by more recent Nd isotope data (Kruk et al., 2011; Safonova et al., 2011a, 2011b). However, several segments of re-cycled crust in the Tienshan orogen, northwestern and northern Mongolia (Fig. 10) include accretionary complexes with blueschist belts derived from oceanic basalts (OIB and MORB) and accreted oceanic plate stratigraphy units with OIBs (e.g., Volkova and Budanov, 1999; Ai et al., 2006; Volkova and Sklyarov, 2007; Volkova et al., 2009; Ruppen et al., 2014; Safonova and Santosh, 2014; Safonova et al.,



Fig. 14. Areas of probable tectonic erosion in the western CAOB showing close location of coeval accretionary (terrigeneous-volcanogenic) units and arc granitoids (dashed outlines). A, the Chingiz arc in central-eastern Kazakhstan (modified from Degtyarev, 2011); B, the Char belt of eastern Kazakhstan (modified from Polyanskii et al., 1979; Safonova et al., 2012).

2012, 2016a). More specifically, the juvenile nature of the Altai intraoceanic arc (Kuznetsk-Altai arc in Russian literature, Buslov et al., 2001) is confirmed by the presence of boninites, OIB/MORB-protolith of blueschists and accreted seamount OPS (Buslov et al., 1998, 2002; Volkova et al., 2005; Safonova, 2008, 2011a, 2011b). Therefore, there is an objective disagreement between geological and isotopic data.

From the above examples one can infer that while studying by isotope methods the nature of the CAOB crust, juvenile versus recycled, some researchers might have worked with biased concepts or with biased datasets, for example, those dominated by granitoids (e.g., Jahn et al., 2000; Jahn, 2004), although the CAOB crust includes many metasedimentary domains or those dominated by mafic rocks, both accreted, post-accretionary and/or post-collisional (intra-plate). Such a disproportional sampling or ignorance of gabbro, basalt and metabasic rocks, which are typical parts of OPS, accretionary, intra-oceanic arc and intra-plate igneous and metamorphic complexes, often occupying huge territories, resulted in pseudo-correlations due to the artificial sampling gap or bias. Data obtained from different terranes, for example, from island arcs and microcontinents, should not be merged; otherwise we come to conclusions of "mixed source of magma", whereas it can be just a product of an artificial mix-up of juvenile and recycled characteristics. All these "biases" logically would lead to wrong or incomplete conclusions, actually representing a half of the truth. Consequently, while sampling the rock units and planning their investigation all researchers working in those structurally and historically complex orogenic belts must be absolutely sure what type of terrane they sample and choose the methods that better suit the tasks and problems they are going correspondingly to fulfill and to solve. "Geology must be brought back into equation" (White et al., 2013).

## 5. Tectonic erosion of juvenile crust and arc subduction: evidence from the CAOB

In previous sections I emphasized several disagreements between Hf-in-zircon and whole-rock Nd isotope data and between isotope and geological data. First, the Hf-in-zircon isotope data show the dominantly recycled crust (see Section 4) although the whole-rock Nd isotope data suggest its dominantly juvenile character (Jahn et al., 2000; Jahn, 2004). Second, the isotope data from several segments of the CAOB crust suggest their recycled crust (Fig. 10) and their dominant Pacific-type orogenic character implying juvenile crust as inferred from geological data (Figs. 2-4; Table 1; Section 3). In addition to the presence of microcontinents in the CAOB crust and the mixed characters of magma reservoirs of most granitoids, these disagreements can be explained by the tectonic erosion of juvenile arc crust and accreted oceanic terranes (OPS, OIB, MORB, OPB). Although, the Pacific-type belts are sites of continental growth, they are also places of strong plate interactions accompanied by tectonic erosion and arc subduction (Scholl and von Huene, 2007; Clift et al., 2009; Yamamoto et al., 2009; Stern and Scholl, 2010; Safonova et al., 2015a, 2015b). Tectonic erosion of juvenile crust and arc subduction at the convergent margins of the Paleo-Asian Ocean was quite probable. The question is whether the big portion of recycled crust in some segments of the CAOB can be due to tectonic erosion?

The first evidence for tectonic erosion at P-type active margins was obtained from seismic reflection profiles across the Tonga (Hilde and Fisher, 1979) and Japan trenches (von Huene and Uyeda, 1981; Hilde, 1983), showing prominent sediment-filled grabens and horsts with thinned sediments (Fig. 11A, B). The mechanism of tectonic erosion includes destruction of oceanic slab, island arcs, accretionary prism and fore-arc by thrusting, the prominent oceanic floor relief as horsts, grabens and oceanic rises scratching the hanging wall, and by (hydro)fracturing (von Huene et al., 2004; Yamamoto et al., 2009) (Fig. 11C). At subduction-related convergent margins, the TTG-type crust and material of accretionary wedges can be eroded and subducted with oceanic slab into the deep upper mantle. Evidence for this comes from the Cretaceous Shimanto accretionary complex of Shikoku Island in Japan, where accretionary units are spatially adjacent to the coeval granitoids of the Ryoke belt, suggesting that older accretionary complexes have been eroded (Fig. 12; Safonova et al., 2015a, 2015b, 2016b), and from the present-day tectonic erosion and ongoing subduction of several oceanic arcs of the Philippine Plate under the Japanese Arc (Fig. 13).

The modern Pacific Ocean is surrounded by 75% of eroding (narrowing or non-accreting) convergent margins and 25% of growing or accreting margins. The global long-term rate of subduction-related erosion is much greater than that of crustal additions (Senshu et al., 2009; Stern, 2011). As the present Western Pacific is a most probable analog of the CAOB (Safonova et al., 2011), one can suggest that processes of tectonic erosion also could have been active at the consuming margins of the Paleo-Asian Ocean, which was responsible for formation of the CAOB.

There are several areas in the CAOB, which host intra-oceanic arcs and/or accreted seamount OPS, and/or blueschists formed after MORB/ OIB, on the one hand, and the isotopically-proven recycled crust (Kröner et al., 2014), on the other hand: Tienshan, northwestern and northern Mongolia (Fig. 10). In addition, eastern Kazakhstan remains poorly studied in terms of Hf-in-zircon isotopes in granitoids as so far whole rock Nd isotope data have been obtained for Late Devonian oceanic basalts only (Safonova et al., 2012).

In terms of geology, a good indication of probable cases of tectonic erosion at old Pacific-type convergent margins is the close spatial location or structural juxtaposition of coeval accretionary units and TTG-type granitoids (andesites, tonalites, granodiorites), suggesting that older accretionary and/or convergent margin units were eroded (Safonova et al., 2015a, 2015b). Several probable cases of tectonic erosion can be proposed in the western CAOB, more specifically, in the middle to late Paleozoic convergent margin units of eastern and southeastern Kazakhstan and southern Kyrgyz Tienshan. For example, the Devonian terrigeneous-carbonate and volcano-sedimentary continental margin units, superimposed onto the eastern part of the Chingiz arc terrane are, in places, adjacent to Devonian granites of probably arc origin (Degtyarev, 2011) (Fig. 14A). Second, the Chatkal-Atbashi Ordovician arc in the Kyrgyz Middle Tienshan includes well dated coeval Early Devonian arc granitoids, ophiolites and accretionary units (Alexeiev et al., 2016) and therefore represents a relatively wellproven locality of tectonic erosion. Third, the Char accretionary complex in eastern Kazakhstan hosting late Devonian-early Carboniferous OPS units (Safonova et al., 2012) includes Early Carboniferous limy sandstones and siltstones, spatially adjacent to Early Carboniferous tonalites (Polyanskii et al., 1979; Kuibida et al., 2016) (Fig. 14B). Consequently, in addition to the Chatkal-Atbashi arc in the Kyrgyz Tienshan (Alexeiev et al., 2016), these three areas (Chingiz, Kyrgyz South Tienshan, Char) are best "candidates" for the cases of probable tectonic erosion at active margins of the Paleo-Asian Ocean, but both detailed geological survey and precise dating of key lithologies are necessary to prove it.

There are also several indirect evidences for the middle-late Paleozoic tectonic erosion in the western CAOB, in general, and Kyrgyz Tienshan, in particular. First, the number of middle Paleozoic accreted OPS with OIB in the Kyrgyz Tienshan is smaller than in the other regions of the CAOB (Fig. 4). There are several localities of accreted OPS-OIB units in the Kyrgyz Tienshan (Safonova et al., 2016a), but they are notably less abundant than those of the same age in the adjacent western Junggar (G. Yang et al., 2015). Second, the amount and size of accreted middle Paleozoic OIB-bearing OPS units in the whole CAOB are, in general, much less than those of late Neoproterozoic, early and late Paleozoic ages (see Tables 2, 3, Section 3.3 and Safonova and Santosh, 2014). Third, the amount of middle Paleozoic intra-oceanic arcs is also, in general, smaller than that of late Neoproterozoic and early Paleozoic (Fig. 4, Table 2), which suggest direct arc subduction like in the modern north-western Pacific (Fig. 13). All these facts may indicate either lesser plume activity (Safonova and Santosh, 2014), or tectonic and/or subduction erosion of OPS-OIB and IOAs or direct arc subduction in middle Paleozoic time.

In spite of the dominantly Pacific-type style of the CAOB, its continental crust includes a big portion of recycled crust (Kröner et al., 2014 and references therein). This can be due to the presence of numerous microcontinents in the CAOB (Fig. 2) and due to destruction of juvenile crust formed at convergent margins. According to various evaluations, from 80 to 100% of the juvenile crust of initially Pacifictype orogenic belts, including those in the CAOB, could have been removed by later tectonic erosion and arc subduction (Clift et al., 2009; Yamamoto et al., 2009; Stern and Scholl, 2010; Ichikawa et al., 2013). The identification of cases of tectonic erosion is critical for the CAOB as Pacific-type convergent margins are places of probably most active and fast destruction of continental crust and they are the only ways to deliver the crustal material to the deep mantle and to metasomatize it (Litasov, 2011; Safonova et al., 2015a, 2015b). The eroded/subducted TTG-type juvenile continental crust could be either returned to the surface as supra-subduction granitoids with recycled isotope signatures or accumulated at the Mantle Transition Zone and served as a source of heat, which induced mantle upwelling, trigger plumes and surface rifting (Maruyama et al., 2011; Safonova et al., 2015a, 2015b). Thus, not only the presence of certain rocks or formations may prove this or that tectonic process or setting - their absence also can be a key for understanding how an accretionary orogen formed and evolved.

#### 6. Conclusions

- Accretionary or Pacific-type orogenic belts are major sites of continental growth through TTG-type juvenile granitoids magmatism, which takes place at intra-oceanic and continental margin arcs, and accretion of oceanic and island-arc terranes. Pacific-type belts can be recognized by the presence of: (i) dominantly mafic, in places boninite-bearing, intra-oceanic island arcs; (ii) accretionary wedges, hosting the Ocean Plate Stratigraphy units, in particular, those representing oceanic islands/seamounts/plateaus (OIB, OPB); (iii) blueschists formed after MORB, OIB and/or OPB; (iv) huge supra-subduction granitoid batholiths; and (v) paired metamorphic belts.
- 2. The Central Asian Orogenic Belt is the world's largest accretionary or P-type orogen and the major site of Phanerozoic juvenile crustal growth. Evidence for its juvenile character comes from numerous late Neoproterozoic to late Paleozoic accretionary complexes, hosting the OPS units with OIBs and blueschist belts, formed after MORB and OIB throughout the whole CAOB, and from the late Neoproterozoic to middle Paleozoic boninite-bearing intra-oceanic arcs in the Altai-Sayan area, western Mongolia, Transbaikalia and northern Mongolia.
- 3. However, in spite of the geology-based accretionary nature and positive whole rock Nd isotope characteristics in most of granitoid localities of the CAOB, the Hf-in-zircon isotope data show a big portion of recycled crust. Such a discrepancy can be explained by the presence of accreted microcontinents, the isotopically mixed nature of igneous reservoirs, the tectonic erosion of juvenile crust and/or by the biased rocks sampling or interpretation of their setting (e.g., focused on granitoids only). A very important problem, while using Hf-in-zircon methods, is the disregard or underestimation of primary geological information.
- 4. The Hf-in-zircon method works well for understanding a type of magma source (juvenile, mixed or recycled) for a certain granitoid complex. The Hf-in-zircon data may be helpful for evaluating the proportions of juvenile and recycled crust at localities lacking clear geological evidence for this or that type of orogen, e.g., in metasediments, or for large fields of intra-plate or/and post-orogenic granitoids. The whole-rock Nd isotope systematics works well for intra-oceanic arcs (mafic rocks and TTG-type granitoids) and/or their related turbidite basins and postorogenic formations.
- 5. There are discrepancies between the Hf-in-zircon data, indicating dominantly recycled crust in the middle and southern Tienshan and southern Transbaikalia, and the geological data, showing the presence of intra-oceanic arcs, OIB/MORB derived blueschists and accreted oceanic islands in the same regions. In addition, there are tectonically juxtaposed coeval arc granitoids and accretionary units. This suggests that the Middle Paleozoic juvenile continental crust, which formed at convergent margins in Kazakhstan, Tarim and Siberia, underwent tectonic erosion.
- 6. Identification of Pacific-type orogens, as places of major crustal growth, requires a detailed geological study, because the isotopic results may not reflect many posterior processes, e.g., tectonic erosion of juvenile crust and/or arc subduction. Geology must be "put back into equation" as field and laboratory recognition of OPS units, blueschist belts and intra-oceanic arcs.

#### Acknowledgments

The study was partly supported by Scientific Project of IGM SB RAS no. 0330-2016-0003, Ministry of Education and Science of the Russian Federation (project no. 14.Y26.31.0018) and Russian Foundation of Basic Research (project no. 16-05-00313). Discussions with many colleagues of mine, who generously shared their ideas and views, greatly helped with shaping this manuscript: M. Santosh (CUGS, Beijing),

R. Seltmann (CERCAMS, London), A. Kröner (BSC, CAGS, Beijing), W. Xiao (IGG CAS, Beijing), M. Sun (Hong Kong University), S. Maruyama (Titech, Tokyo), T. Kusky (CUGS, Wuhan), D. Alexeiev (GIN RAS, Moscow), G. Biske (St.-Petersburg University), V. Burtman (GIN RAS, Moscow), D. Gladkochub (IEC SB RAS, Irkutsk), A. Yakubchuk (Orsu Metals, UK), A. Izokh, S. Krivonogov, O. Turkina, N. Kruk, A. Nozhkin, V. Simonov, A. Vladimirov, N. Volkova (all from IGM SB RAS, Novosibirsk) and many others. This work could not be produced without IGCP#592 Project "Continental construction in Central Asia" under patronage of UNESCO-IUGS.

#### References

- Ai, Y., Zhang, Li, X., Qu, J., 2006. Geochemical characteristics and tectonic implications of HP-UHP eclogites and blueschists in the southwestern Tienshan, China. Progress in Natural Science 16, 624–632.
- Alexeiev, D.V., Degtyarev, K.E., Kotov, A.B., Sal'nikova, E.B., Tret'yakov, A.A., Yakovleva, S.Z., Anisimova, I.V., Shatagin, K.N., 2009. Late Paleozoic subductional and collisional igneous complexes in the Naryn segment of the Middle Tien Shan (Kyrgyzstan). Doklady Earth Sciences 427, 760–763.
- Alexeiev, D.V., Ryazantsev, A.V., Kroner, A., Tretyakov, A.A., Xia, X., Liu, D.Y., 2011. Geochemical data and zircon ages for rocks in a high-pressure belt of Chu-Yili Mountains, southern Kazakhstan: implications for the earliest stages of accretion in Kazakhstan and the Tianshan. Journal of Asian Earth Sciences 42, 805–820.
- Alexeiev, D.V., Kroner, A., Hegner, E., Rojas-Agramonte, Biske, G., Wong, J., Geng, H., Ivleva, E.A., Mühlberg, M., Mikolaichuk, A.V., Liu, D.Y., 2016. Middle to Late Ordovician arc system in the Kyrgyz Middle Tianshan: from arc-continent collision to subsequent evolution of a Palaeozoic continental margin. Gondwana Research 39, 261–291.
- Badarch, G., Cunningham, W.D., Windley, B.F., 2002. A new terrane subdivision for Mongolia: implications for the Phanerozoic crustal growth of Central Asia. Journal of Asian Earth Sciences 21, 87–110.
- Bakirov, A.B., Maksumova, R.A., 2001. Geodynamic evolution of the Tien Shan lithosphere. Russian Geology and Geophysics 42, 1359–1366.
- Belichenko, V.G., 1969. The Lower Paleozoic of western Transbaikalia. Nauka, Moscow, p. 208.
- Belousova, E.A., Kostitsyn, Y.A., Griffin, W.L., Begg, G.C., O'Reilly, S.Y., Pearson, N.J., 2010. The growth of the continental crust: constraints from zircon Hf-isotope data. Lithos 119, 457–466.
- Belousova, E., Seltmann, R., Griffin, W.L., O'Reilly, S.Y., 2011. Hf isotopes in zircons from the CAOB: crustal evolution history and tectonic significance. In: Kroener, A. (Ed.), Proceedings of GSA Penrose Conference "Comparative Evolution of Past and Present Accretionary Orogens: Central Asia and the Circum-Pacific, September 4–10, 2011, Urumqi, Xinjiang, China.
- Biske, Y.S., Seltmann, R., 2010. Paleozoic Tian-Shan as a transitional region between the Rheic and Urals-Turkestan oceans. Gondwana Research 17, 602–613.
- Brown, M., 2010. Paired metamorphic belts revisited. Gondwana Research 18, 46–59.
- Buchan, C., Cunningham, W.D., Windley, B.F., Tomurhuu, D., 2001. Structural and lithological characteristics of the Bayankhongor ophiolite zone, Central Mongolia. Journal of the Geological Society of London 158, 445–460.
- Buriánek, D., Schulmann, K., Hrdličková, K., Hanžl, P., Janoušek, V., Gerdes, A., Lexa, O., 2016. Geochemistry and Geochronology of the Cambrian Accretionary Wedge in Southern Mongolia: Implications for Geodynamics of Central Asian Orogenic Belt Proterozoic-Early Palaeozoic Oceanic Systems in this issue.
- Burtman, V.S., 2008. Nappes of the southern Tienshan. Russian Journal of Earth Sciences 10, ES1006. http://dx.doi.org/10.2205/2007ES000223.
- Buslov, M.M., Safonova, I.Yu., Bobrov, V.A., 1998. New geochemical data on boninites from Kurai ophiolites, Gorny Altai. Doklady Earth Sciences 361, 244–247.
- Buslov, M.M., Safonova, I.Yu., Watanabe, T., Obut, O., Fujiwara, Y., Iwata, K., Semakov, N.N., Sugai, Y., Smirnova, L.V., Kazansky, A.Y., 2001. Evolution of the Paleo-Asian Ocean (Altai-Sayan region, Central Asia) and collision of possible Gondwana-derived terranes with the southern marginal part of the Siberian continent. Geosciences Journal 5, 203–224.
- Buslov, M.M., Watanabe, T., Saphonova, I.Y., Iwata, K., Travin, A., Akiyama, M., 2002. A Vendian-Cambrian island arc system of the Siberian continent in Gorny Altai (Russia, Central Asia). Gondwana Research 5, 781–800.
- Cai, K.D., Sun, M., Yuan, C., Zhao, G.C., Xiao, W.J., Long, X.P., Wu, F.Y., 2011. Prolonged magmatism, juvenile nature and tectonic evolution of the Chinese Altai, NW China: evidence from zircon U–Pb and Hf isotopic study of Paleozoic granitoids. Journal of Asian Earth Sciences 42, 949–968.
- Campbell, I.H., Allen, C.M., 2008. Formation of supercontinents linked to increases in atmospheric oxygen. Nature Geoscience 1, 554–558.
- Charvet, J., Shu, S.L., Laurent-Charvet, S., 2007. Paleozoic structural and geodynamic evolution of eastern Tianshan (NW China): welding of the Tarim and Junggar plates. Episodes 30, 162–186.
- Chen, C.M., Lu, H.F., Jia, D., Cai, D.S., Wu, S.M., 1999. Closing history of the southern Tianshan oceanic basin, western China: an oblique collisional orogeny. Tectonophysics 302, 23–40.
- Chen, B., Jahn, B.-m., Wilde, S., Xu, B., 2000. Two contrasting Paleozoic magmatic belts in northern Inner Mongolia, China: petrogenesis and tectonic implications. Tectonophysics 328, 157–182.

- Chen, M., Sun, M., Buslov, M., Cai, K., Zhao, G., Zheng, J., Rubanova, E.S., Voytishek, E.E., 2015. Neoproterozoic-middle Paleozoic tectono-magmatic evolution of the Gorny Altai terrane, northwest of the Central Asian Orogenic Belt: constraints from detrital zircon U–Pb and Hf-isotope studies. Lithos 233, 223–236.
- Clift, P.D., Schouten, H., Draut, A.E., 2003. A general model of arc-continent collision and subduction polarity reversal from Taiwan and the Irysh Caledonides. In: Larter, R.D., Leat, P.T. (Eds.), Intraoceanic Subduction Systems (Tectonic and Magmatic Processes). Geological Society Special Publication Vol. 219, pp. 81–98.
- Clift, P.D., Vannucchi, P., Morgan, J.P., 2009. Crustal redistribution, crust-mantle recycling and Phanerozoic evolution of the continental crust. Earth-Science Reviews 97, 80–104.
- Condie, K.C., Kröner, A., 2013. The building blocks of continental crust: evidence for a major change in the tectonic setting of continental growth at the end of the Archean. Gondwana Research 23, 394–402.
- Degtyarev, K.E., 2011. Tectonic evolution of early Paleozoic island arc systems and continental crust formation in the Caledonides of Kazakhstan and the North Tien Shan. Geotectonics 45, 23–50.
- Degtyarev, K.E., Tolmacheva, T.Yu., Ryazantsev, A.V., Tret'yakov, A.A., Yakubchuk, A.S., Kotov, A.B., Sal'nikova, E.B., Yakovleva, S.Z., Gorokhovskii, B.M., 2012. Structure, age substantiation and tectonic setting of the Lower-Middle Ordovician volcanic-sedimentary and plutonic complexes of the western part of the Kyrgyz Range (Northern Tien Shan). Stratigraphy and Geological Correlation 20, 317–345.
- Demoux, A., Kröner, A., Liu, D., Badarch, G., 2009. Precambrian crystalline basement in southern Mongolia as revealed by SHRIMP zircon dating. International Journal of Earth Sciences 98, 1365–1380.
- Dergunov, A.B., Kovalenko, V.I., Ruzhentsev, S.V., Yarmolyuk, V.V., 2001. Tectonics, Magmatism, and Metallogeny of Mongolia. Routledge, Taylor and Francis Group, London–New York.
- Didenko, A.N., Mossakovskiy, A.A., Pecherskiy, D.M., Ruzhentsev, S.G., Samygin, S.G., Kheraskova, T.N., 1994. Geodynamics of Paleozoic oceans of Central Asia. Russian Geology and Geophysics 35, 48–62.
- Dijkstra, A.H., Brouwer, F.M., Cunningham, W.D., Buchan, C., Badarch, G., Mason, P.R.D., 2006. Late Neoproterozoic proto-arc ocean crust in the Dariv range, western Mongolia: a supra-subduction zone end-member ophiolite. Journal of the Geological Society, London 163, 363–373.
- Dobretsov, N.L., Buslov, M.M., 2007. Late Cambrian–Ordovician tectonics and geodynamics of Central Asia. Russian Geology and Geophysics 48, 71–82.
- Dobretsov, N.L., Konnikov, E.G., Dobretsov, N.N., 1992. Precambrian ophiolitic belts of southern Siberia (Russia) and their metallogeny. Precambrian Research 58, 427–446.
- Dobretsov, N.L., Berzin, N.A., Buslov, M.M., 1995. Opening and tectonic evolution of the Paleo-Asian Ocean. International Geology Review 37, 335–360.
- Dobretsov, N.L., Buslov, M.M., Vernikovsky, V.A., 2003. Neoproterosoic to Early Ordovician evolution of the Paleo-Asian Ocean: implications to the break-up of Rodinia. Gondwana Research 6, 143–159.
- Dolgopolova, A., Seltmann, R., Konopelko, D., Biske, Y.S., Shatov, V., Armstrong, R., Belousova, E., Pankhurst, R., Koneev, R., Divaev, F., 2017. Geodynamic Evolution of Western Tien Shan. Uzbekistan: Insights from U–Pb SHRIMP Geochronology and Sr–Nd–Pb–Hf Isotope Mapping of Granitoids 47, 76–109 (in this issue).
- Dong, Y., Safonova, I., Wang, T., 2016. Tectonic evolution of the Qinling orogen and adjacent orogenic belts. Gondwana Research 30, 1–5.
- Donskaya, T.V., Gladkochub, D.P., Mazukabzov, A.M., Ivanov, A.V., 2013. Late Paleozoic-Mesozoic subduction-related magmatism at the southern margin of the Siberian continent and the 150 million-year history of the Mongol-Okhotsk Ocean. Journal of Asian Earth Sciences 62, 79–97.
- Fedorovskii, V.S., Khain, E.V., Vladimirov, A.G., Kargopolov, S.A., Gibsher, A.S., Izokh, A.E., 1995. Tectonics, metamorphism, and magnetism of collisional zones of the Central Asian Caledonides. Geotectonics 29, 193–212.
- Filippov, A.N., Govorov, G.I., Chashchin, A.A., Punina, T.A., 2010. Composition and formation settings of the siliceous–volcanogenic complexes of the Nizhneussuriisk segment, Kiselevka–Manoma terrane, west Sikhote–Alin. Russian Journal of Pacific Geology 4, 289–303.
- Gao, J., Klemd, R., 2003. Formation of HP–LT rocks and their tectonic implications in the western Tianshan Orogen, NW China: geochemical and age constraints. Lithos 66, 1–22.
- Gao, J., He, G., Li, M., Xiao, X., Tang, Y., Wang, J., Zhao, M., 1995. The mineralogy, petrology, metamorphic PTDt trajectory and exhumation mechanism of blueschists, south Tianshan, northwestern China. Tectonophysics 250, 151–168.
- Gao, J., Li, M.G., Xiao, X.C., Tang, Y.Q., He, G.Q., 1998. Palaeozoic tectonic evolution of the Tianshan Orogen, northwestern China. Tectonophysics 287, 213–231.
- Gao, J., Klemd, R., Qian, Q., Zhang, X., Li, J., Jiang, T., Yang, Y., 2011. The collision between the Yili and Tarim blocks of the southwestern Altaids: geochemical and age constraints of a leucogranite dike crosscutting the HP–LT metamorphic belt in the Chinese Tianshan Orogen. Tectonophysics 499, 118–131.
- Gil, J.B., 1981. Orogenic Andesites and Plate Tectonics. Springer, Berlin.
- Glorie, S., De Grave, J., Buslov, M.M., Zhimulev, F.I., Izmer, A., Vandoorne, W., Ryabinin, A., Van den haute, P., Vanhaecke, F., Elburg, M.A., 2011. Formation and Palaeozoic evolution of the Gorny-Altai-Altai-Mongolia suture zone (South Siberia): zircon U/Pb constraints on the igneous record. Gondwana Research 20, 465–484.
- Glorie, S., Zhimulev, F.I., Buslov, M.M., Andersen, T., Plavsa, D., Izmer, A., Vanhaecke, F., De Grave, J., 2015. Formation of the Kokchetav subduction–collision zone (northern Kazakhstan): insights from zircon U–Pb and Lu–Hf isotope systematics. Gondwana Research 27, 424–438.
- Golozubov, V.V., 2006. Tectonics of the Jurassic and Lower Cretaceous Complexes of the North-Western Framing of the Pacific Ocean. Dal'nauka, Vladivostok in Russian with English abstract and content.
- Gordienko, I.V., 1994. Paleozoic geodynamic evolution of the Mongol-Okhotsk foldbelt. Journal of Southeast Asian Earth Sciences 9, 429–433.

- Gordienko, I.V., Filimonov, A.V., Minina, O.R., Gornova, M.A., Medvedev, A.Y., Klimuk, V.S., Elbaev, A.L., Tomurtogoo, O., 2007. Dzhida island-arc system in the Paleoasian Ocean: structure and main stages of Vendian-Paleozoic geodynamic evolution. Russian Geology and Geophysics 48, 91–107.
- Gordienko, I.V., Bulgatov, A.N., Ruzhentsev, S.V., Minina, O.R., Klimuk, V.S., Vetluzhskikh, L.I., Nekrasov, G.E., Lastochkin, N.I., Sitnikova, V.S., Metelkin, D.V., Goneger, T.A., Lepekhina, E.N., 2010. The Late Riphean–Paleozoic history of the Uda–Vitim island arc system in the Transbaikalian sector of the Paleoasian ocean. Russian Geology and Geophysics 51, 461–481.
- Groves, D.I., Goldfarb, R.J., Gebre-Mariam, M., Hagemann, S.G., Robert, F., 1998. Orogenic gold deposits: a proposed classification in the context of their crustal distribution and relationship to other gold deposit types. Ore Geology Reviews 13, 7–27.
- Guy, A., Schulmann, K., Janoušek, V., Štípská, P., Armstrong, R., Belousova, E., Dolgopolova, A., Seltmann, R., Lexa, O., Jiang, Y., Hanžl, P., 2015. Geophysical and geochemical nature of relaminated arc-derived lower crust underneath oceanic domain in southern Mongolia. Tectonics 34. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/2015TC003845.
- Han, B.-F., He, G.-Q., Wang, X.-C., Guo, Z.-J., 2011. Late Carboniferous collision between the Tarim and Kazakhstan–Yili terranes in the western segment of the South Tian Shan Orogen, Central Asia, and implications for the Northern Xinjiang, western China. Earth-Science Reviews 109, 74–93.
- Hawkesworth, C.J., Dhuime, B., Pietranik, A.B., Cawood, P.A., Kemp, A.I.S., Storey, C.D., 2010. The generation and evolution of the continental crust. Journal of the Geological Society, London 167, 229–248.
- Heinhorst, J., Lehmann, B., Ermolov, P., Serykh, V., Zhurutin, S., 2000. Paleozoic crustal growth and metallogeny of central Asia: evidence from magmatic-hydrothermal ore systems of central Kazakhstan. Tectonophysics 328, 69–87.
- Hilde, T.W.C., 1983. Sediment subduction versus accretion around the Pacific. Tectonophysics 99, 381–397.
- Hilde, T.W.C., Fisher, R.L., 1979. Graben Structure and Axial Zone Tectonics of Tonga Trench, Southwest Pacific, XVII General Assembly of the International Union for Geodesy and Geophysics, Canberra Vol. 17 p. 18.
- Hofmann, A.W., 1997. Mantle geochemistry: the message from oceanic volcanism. Nature 385, 219–229.
- Hu, A., Jahn, B.-m., Zhang, G., Chen, Y., Zhang, Q., 2000. Crustal evolution and Phanerozoic crustal growth in northern Xinjiang: Nd isotopic evidence. Part I. Isotopic characterization of basement rocks. Tectonophysics 328, 15–51.
- Ichikawa, H., Kawai, K., Yamamoto, S., Kameyama, M., 2013. Supply rate of continental materials to the deep mantle through subduction channels. Tectonophysics 592, 46–52.
- Ishizuka, H., Miyake, M., Takeda, N., 2003. Origin and metamorphism of greenstones from the Sambosan unit of the Southern Chichibu belt, west to entreal east Shikoku. Journal of the Geological Society of Japan 109, 267–279 in Japanese with English abstract.
- Isozaki, Y., Maruyama, S., Fukuoka, F., 1990. Accreted oceanic materials in Japan. Tectonophysics 181, 179–205.
- Isozaki, Y., Aoki, K., Nakama, T., Yanai, S., 2010. New insight into a subduction-related orogen: a reappraisal of the geotectonic framework and evolution of the Japanese Islands. Gondwana Research 18, 82–105.
- Izokh, A.E., Polyakov, G.V., Gibsher, A.S., Balykin, P.A., Zhuravlev, D.Z., Parkhomenko, V.A., 1998. High-alumina layered gabbroids of the Central-Asian fold belt: geochemical composition, Sm-Nd isotopic age, and geodynamic conditions of formation. Russian Geology and Geophysics 39, 1565–1577.
- Jahn, B.-M., 2004. The Central Asian Orogenic Belt and growth of the continental crust in the Phanerozoic. In: Malpas, J., Fletcher, C.J.N., Ali, J.R., Aitchison, J.C. (Eds.), Aspects of the Tectonic Evolution of China. Geological Society, London, Special Publication vol. 226, pp. 73–100.
- Jahn, B.-m., 2010. Accretionary orogen and evolution of the Japanese Islands implications from a Sr–Nd isotopic study of the Phanerozoic granitoids from SW Japan. American Journal of Science 310, 1210–1249.

Jahn, B., Wu, F., Chen, B., 2000. Granitoids of the Central Asian Orogenic Belt and continental growth in the Phanerozoic. Transactions of the Royal Society of Edinburgh 91, 181–193.

- Jahn, B.-M., Capdevila, R., Liu, D., Vernon, A., Badarch, G., 2004. Sources of Phanerozoic granitoids in the transect Bayanhongor–Ulaan Baatar, Mongolia: geochemical and Nd isotopic evidence, and implications for Phanerozoic crustal growth. Journal of Asian Earth Sciences 23, 629–653.
- Jian, P., Liu, D., Kröner, A., Windley, B.F., Shi, Y., Zhang, W., Zhang, F., Miao, L., Zhang, L., Tomurhuu, D., 2010. Evolution of a Permian intraoceanic arc–trench system in the Solonker suture zone, Central Asian Orogenic Belt, China and Mongolia. Lithos 118, 169–190.
- Jiang, Y., Sun, M., Zhao, G., Yuan, C., Xiao, W., Xia, X., Long, X., Wu, F., 2011. Precambrian detrital zircons in the Early Paleozoic Chinese Altai: their provenance and implications for the crustal growth of central Asia. Precambrian Research 189, 140–154.
- Kanmera, K., Sano, H., 1991. Collisional collapse and accretion of late Paleozoic Akiyoshi seamount. Episodes 14, 217–223.
- Kelemen, P., Hanghoj, K., Greene, A., 2003. One view of the geochemistry of subductionrelated magmatic arcs, with an emphasis on primitive andesite and lower crust. In: Rudnick, R.L. (Ed.), The CrustTreatise on Geochemistry vol. 3. Elsevier Pergamon, Oxford, pp. 593–659.
- Kepezhinskas, P.K., Kepezhinskas, K.B., Puchtel, I.S., 1991. Lower Paleozoic oceanic crust in Mongolian Caledonides: Sm–Nd isotope and trace element data. Geophysical Research Letters 18, 1301–1304.
- Kheraskova, T.N., Didenko, A.N., Bush, V.A., Volozh, Y.A., 2003. The Vendian–Early Paleozoic history of the continental margin of eastern Paleogondwana, Paleoasian ocean, and Central Asian foldbelt. Russian Journal of Earth Sciences 5, 165–184.
- Kojima, S., Kemkin, I.V., Kametaka, M., Ando, A., 2000. A correlation of accretionary complexes of southern Sikhote-Alin of Russia and the Inner zone of southern Japan. Geosciences Journal 4, 175–185.

- Konopelko, D., Biske, G., Seltmann, R., Kiseleva, M., Matukov, D., Sergeev, S., 2008. Deciphering Caledonian events: timing and geochemistry of the Caledonian magmatic arc in the Kyrgyz Tien Shan. Journal of Asian Earth Sciences 32, 131–141.
- Konopelko, D., Seltmann, R., Apayarov, F., Belousova, E., Izokh, A., Lepekhina, E., 2013. U–Pb–Hf zircon study of two mylonitic granite complexes in the Talas-Fergana fault zone, Kyrgyzstan, and Ar–Ar age. Of deformations along the fault. Journal of Asian Earth Sciences 73, 334–346.
- Kovach, V.P., Yarmolyuk, V.V., Kovalenko, V.I., Kozlovskyi, A.M., Kotov, A.B., Terent'eva, L.B., 2011. Composition, sources, and mechanisms of formation of the continental crust of the Lake zone of the Central Asian Caledonides. II. Geochemical and Nd isotope data. Petrology 19, 399–425.
- Kovalenko, V.I., Yarmolyuk, V.V., Kovach, V.P., Kotov, A.B., Kozakov, I.K., Salnikova, E.B., Larin, A.M., 2004. Isotope provinces, mechanisms of generation and sources of the continental crust in the Central Asian mobile belt: geological and isotopic evidence. Journal of Asian Earth Science 23, 605–627.
- Kozakov, I.K., Sal'nikova, E.B., Natman, A., Kovach, V.P., Kotov, A.B., Podkovyrov, V.N., Plotkina, Y.V., 2005. Metasedimentary complexes of the Tuva–Mongolian massif: age, provenances, and tectonic position. Stratigraphy and Geological Correlation 13, 1–20.
- Kozakov, I.K., Kovach, V.P., Bibikova, E.V., Kirnozova, T.I., Zagornaya, N.Y., Plotkina, Y.V., Podkovyrov, V.N., 2007. Age and sources of granitoids in the junction zone of the Caledonides and Hercynides in southwestern Mongolia: geodynamic implications. Petrology 15, 126–150.
- Kozakov, I.K., Kozlovsky, A.M., Yarmolyuk, V.V., Kovach, V.P., Bibikova, E.V., Kirnozova, T.I., Plotkina, Y.V., Zagornaya, N.Y., Fugzan, M.M., Erdenejargal, C., Lebedev, V.I., Eenjin, G., 2011. Crystalline complexes of the Tarbagatai block of the Early Caledonian superterrane of Central Asia. Petrology 19, 426–444.
- Kröner, A., Hegner, E., Lehmann, B., Heinhorst, J., Wingate, M.T.D., Liu, D.Y., Ermelov, P., 2008. Palaeozoic arc magmatism in the Central Asian Orogenic Belt of Kazakhstan: SHRIMP zircon ages and whole-rock Nd isotopic systematics. Journal of Asian Earth Sciences 32, 118–130.
- Kröner, A., Alexeiev, D.V., Hegner, E., Rojas-Agramonte, Y., Corsini, M., Chao, Y., Wong, J., Windley, B.F., Liu, D., Tretyakov, A.A., 2012a. Zircon and muscovite ages, geochemistry, and Nd–Hf isotopes for the Aktyuz metamorphic terrane: evidence for an Early Ordovician collisional belt in the northern Tianshan of Kyrgyzstan. Gondwana Research 21, 901–927.
- Kröner, A., Belousova, E., Kovach, V., Belousova, E., Hegner, E., Sun, M., Cai, K., Rytsk, E., Rojas-Agramonte, Y., Wong, J., Alexeiev, D.V., Dolgopolova, A., Armstrong, R., 2012b. New assessment of crustal growth in the Central Asian Orogenic Belt. Geodynamic Evolution of the Central Asian Orogenic Belt, International Workshop, St.-Petersburg, May 25–27, 2012, Workshop Materials available at: http://www.ipgg.ru/download/ 1st.lnt.Workshop.May2012.pdf.
- Kröner, A., Alexeiev, D.V., Rojas-Agramonte, Y., Hegner, E., Wong, J., Xia, X., Belousova, E., Mikolaichuk, A., Seltmann, R., Liu, D., Kisilev, V., 2013. Mesoproterozoic (Grenvillen age) terranes in the Kyrgyz North Tianshan: zircon ages and Nd–Hf isotopic constraints on the origin and evolution of basement blocks in the southern Central Asian orogen. Gondwana Research 23, 272–295.
- Kröner, A., Kovach, V., Belousova, E., Hegner, E., Armstrong, R., Dolgopolova, A., Seltmann, R., Alexeiev, D.V., Hoffmann, J.E., Wong, J., Sun, M., Cai, K., Wang, T., Tong, Y., Wilde, S.A., Degtyarev, K.E., Rytsk, E., 2014. Reassessment of continental growth during the accretionary history of the Central Asian Orogenic Belt. Gondwana Research 25, 103–125.
- Kruk, N.N., Rudnev, S.N., Vladimirov, A.G., Shokalsky, S.P., Kovach, V.P., Serov, P.A., Volkova, N.I., 2011. Early-Middle Paleozoic granitoids in Gorny Altai, Russia: implications or continental crust history and magma sources. Journal of Asian Earth Sciences 42, 928–948.
- Kuibida, M.L., Safonova, I.Yu., Yermolov, P.V., Vladimirov, A.G., Kruk, N.N., Yamamoto, S., 2016. Early Carboniferous tonalites and plagiogranites of the Char suture-shear zone in East Kazakhstan: implications for the Kazakhstan-Siberia collision. Geoscience Frontiers 7, 141–150.
- Kurganskaya, E.V., Safonova, I.Yu., Simonov, V.A., 2014. Geochemistry and petrogenesis of suprasubduction volcanic complexes of the Char strike-slip zone, eastern Kazakhstan. Russian Geology and Geophysics 55, 69–84.
- Kusky, T., Windley, B., Safonova, I., Wakita, K., Wakabayashi, J., Polat, A., Santosh, M., 2013. Recognition of ocean plate stratigraphy in accretionary orogens through earth history: a record of 3.8 billion years of sea floor spreading, subduction, and accretion. Gondwana Research 24, 501–547.
- Kuzmichev, A.B., Bibikova, E.V., Zhuravlev, D.Z., 2001. Neoproterozoic (~800 Ma) orogeny in the Tuva-Mongolian massif (Siberia): island arc-continent collision at the northeast Rodinia margin. Precambrian Research 110, 109–126.
- Kuzmichev, A.B., Kröner, A., Hegner, E., Dunyi, L., Yusheng, W., 2005. The Shishkhid ophiolite, northern Mongolia: a key to the reconstruction of a Neoproterozoic island-arc system in central Asia. Precambrian Research 138, 125–150.
- Levashova, N.M., Kalugin, V.M., Gibsher, A.S., Yff, J., Ryabinin, A.B., Meert, J.G., Malone, S.J., 2010. The origin of the Baydaric microcontinent, Mongolia: constraints from paleomagnetism and geochronology. Tectonophysics 485, 306–320.
- Li, H.J., He, G.Q., Wu, T.R., Wu, B., 2006. Confirmation of Altai-Mongolia microcontinent and its implications. Acta Petrological Sinica 22, 1369–1379.
- Li, S., Wilde, S.A., Wang, T., Xiao, W., Guo, Q., 2016. Latest Early Permian granitic magmatism in southern Inner Mongolia, China: implications for the tectonic evolution of the southeastern Central Asian Orogenic Belt. Gondwana Research 29, 168–180.
- Litasov, K.D., 2011. Physicochemical conditions for melting in the Earth's mantle containing a C–O–H fluid (from experimental data). Russian Geology and Geophysics 52, 475–492.
- Long, X.P., Sun, M., Yuan, C., Xiao, W.J., Lin, S.F., Wu, F.Y., Xia, X.P., Cai, K.D., 2007. U–Pb and Hf isotopic study of zircons from metasedimentary rocks in the Chinese Altai:

implications for Early Paleozoic tectonic evolution. Tectonics. http://dx.doi.org/10. 1029/2007TC002128.

- Long, X.P., Yuan, C., Sun, M., Xiao, W.J., Wang, Y.J., Cai, K.D., Jiang, Y.D., 2011. Geochemistry and Nd isotopic composition of the Early Paleozoic flysch sequence in the Chinese Altai, Central Asia: evidence for a northward-derived mafic source and insight into Nd model ages in accretionary orogen. Gondwana Research 22, 554–566.
- Maruyama, 1997. Pacific-type orogeny revisited: Miyashiro-type orogeny proposed. Island Arc 6, 91–120.
- Maruyama, S., Sakai, H., 1986. Tectonics of Asia as a Composite Continent. Monograph of Association for Geological Collaboration of Japan Vol. 31 pp. 487–518.
- Maruyama, S., Liou, J.G., Seno, T., 1989. Mesozoic and Cenozoic evolution of Asia. Oxford Monograph on Geology and Geophysics, pp. 75–99.
- Maruyama, S., Liou, J.G., Terbayashi, M., 1996. Bluschist and eclogites of the world, and their exhumation. International Geology Review 38, 485–594.
- Maruyama, S., Santosh, M., Zhao, D., 2007. Superplume, supercontinent, and postperovskite: mantle dynamics and anti-plate tectonics on the core–mantle boundary. Gondwana Research 11, 7–37.
- Maruyama, S., Kawai, T., Windley, B.F., 2010. Ocean plate stratigraphy and its imbrication in an accretionary orogen: the Mona complex, Anglesey-Lleyn, Wales, UK. Geological Society, London, Special Publications 338, 55–75.
- Maruyama, S., Omori, S., Sensu, H., Kawai, K., Windley, B.F., 2011. Pacific-type orogens: new concepts and variations in space and time from present to past. Journal of Geography 120, 115–223 in Japanese with English abstract and captions.
- Miao, L., Fan, W., Liu, D., Zhang, F., Shi, Y., Gu, F., 2008. Geochronology and geochemistry of the Hegenshan ophiolitic complex: implications for late-stage tectonic evolution of the Inner Mongolia-Daxinganling Orogenic Belt, China. Journal of Asian Earth Sciences 32, 348–370.
- Miyashiro, A., 1961. Evolution of metamorphic belts. Journal of Petrology 2, 277–311.
- Miyashiro, A., 1973. The Troodos ophiolitic complex was probably formed in an island arc. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 19, 218–224.
- Mongush, A.A., Lebedev, V.I., Travin, A.V., Yarmolyuk, V.V., 2011. Ophiolites of Western Tyva as fragments of a Late Vendian Island arc of the Paleoasian Ocean. Doklady Earth Sciences 438, 866–872.
- Mossakovsky, A.A., Ruzhentsev, S.V., Samygin, S.G., Kheraskova, T.N., 1993. The Central Asian foldbelt: geodynamics evolution and the history of formation. Geotektonika 6, 3–33 in Russian.
- Nakajima, T., 1994. The Ryoke plutono-metamorphic belt: crustal section of the Cretaceous Eurasian continental margin. Lithos 33, 51–66.
- Niu, H., Sato, H., Zhang, H., Ito, J., Yu, X., Nagao, T., Terada, K., Zhang, Q., 2006. Juxtaposition of adakite, boninite, high-TiO<sub>2</sub> and low-TiO<sub>2</sub> basalts in the Devonian southern Altay, Xinjiang, NW China. Journal of Asian Earth Sciences 28, 439–456.
- Obut, O.T., Buslov, M.M., Iwata, K., Zhimulev, F.I., 2006. Timing of collision of the Kokchetav Massif with the Stepnyak island arc on the basis of conodonts and radiolarians from siliceous rocks of juxtaposed terranes of different geodynamic settings. Russian Geology and Geophysics 47, 451–457.
- Ota, T., Utsunomiya, A., Uchio, Y., Isozaki, Y., Buslov, M., Ishikawa, A., Maruyama, S., Kitajima, K., Kaneko, Y., Yamamoto, H., Katayama, I., 2007. Geology of the Gorny Altai subduction– accretion complex, southern Siberia: tectonic evolution of a Vendian–Cambrian intraoceanic arc. Journal of Asian Earth Sciences 30, 666–695.
- Oxburgh, E.R., Turcotte, D.L., 1971. Origin of paired metamorphic belts and crustal dilatation in island arc regions. Journal of Geophysical Research 76, 1315–1327.
- Pfänder, J.A., Jochum, K.P., Kozakov, I., Kröner, A., Todt, W., 2002. Coupled evolution of back-arc and island arc-like mafic crust in the late-Neoproterozoic Agardagh Tes-Chem ophiolite, Central Asia: evidence from trace element and Sr-Nd-Pb isotope data. Contributions to Mineralogy and Petrology 143, 154–174.
- Polyanskii, N.V., Dobretsov, N.L., Ermolov, P.V., Kuzebnyi, V.S., 1979. The structure and history of the Char ophiolite belt. Russian Geology and Geophysics 16, 52–62.
- Puchkov, V.N., 1997. Structure and geodynamics of the Uralian orogen. In: Burg, J.-P., Ford, M. (Eds.), Orogeny Through Time. Geological Society, London, Special Publications Vol. 121, pp. 201–236.
- Ren, J., Wang, Z., Chen, B., Jiang, C., Niu, B., Li, J., Xie, G., He, Z., Liu, Z., 1999. Tectonic Map of China and Adjacent Regions. Geological Publishing House, Beijing.
- Rojas-Agramonte, Y., Kröner, A., Alexeiev, D.V., Jeffreys, T., Khudoley, A.K., Wong, J., Geng, H., Shu, L., Semiletkin, S.A., Mikolaichuk, A.V., Kiselev, V.V., Yang, J., Seltmann, R., 2014. Detrital and igneous zircon ages for supracrustal rocks of the Kyrgyz Tianshan and palaeogeographic implications. Gondwana Research 26, 957–974.
- Ruppen, D., Knaf, A., Bussien, D., Winkler, W., Chimedtseren, A., von Quadt, A., 2014. Restoring the Silurian to Carboniferous northern active continental margin of the Mongol–Okhotsk Ocean in Mongolia: Hangay–Hentey accretionary wedge and seamount collision. Gondwana Research 25, 1517–1534.
- Ryazantsev, A.V., Degtyarev, K.E., Kotov, A.B., Salnikova, E.B., Anisimova, I.V., Yakovleva, S.Z., 2009. Ophiolite sequences of the Dzhalair-Naiman zone, southern Kazakhstan: their structure and age substantiation. Doklady Earth Sciences 427 (2), 902–906.
- Rytsk, E.Y., Kovach, V.P., Yarmolyuk, V.V., Kovalenko, V.I., Bogomolov, E.S., Kotov, A.B., 2011. Isotopic structure and evolution of the continental crust in the East Transbaikalian segment of the Central Asian Foldbelt. Geotectonics 45, 349–377.
- Safonova, I.Yu., 2008. Geochemical evolution of the Paleo-Asian Ocean intra-plate magmatism from the Late Neoproterozoic to the Early Cambrian. Petrology 16, 492–511.
- Safonova, I.Yu., 2009. Intraplate magmatism and oceanic plate stratigraphy of the Paleo-Asian and Paleo-Pacific Oceans from 600 to 140 Ma. Ore Geology Reviews 35, 137–154.
- Safonova, I., 2014. The Russian-Kazakh Altai Orogen: An Overview and Main Debatable Issues: Geoscience Frontiers 5, 537–552.
- Safonova, I., Maruyama, S., 2014. Asia: a frontier of a future supercontinent Amasia. International Geology Review 56, 1051–1071.

- Safonova, I.Y., Santosh, M., 2014. Accretionary complexes in the Asia-Pacific region: tracing archives of ocean plate stratigraphy and tracking mantle plumes. Gondwana Research 25, 126–158.
- Safonova, I., Seltmann, R., Kröner, A., Gladkochub, D., Schulmann, K., Xiao, W., Komiya, T., Sun, M., 2011a. A new concept of continental construction in the Central Asian Orogenic Belt (compared to actualistic examples from the Western Pacific). Episodes 34, 186–194.
- Safonova, I.Yu., Buslov, M.M., Simonov, V.A., Izokh, A.E., Komiya, T., Kurganskaya, E.V., Ohno, T., 2011b. Geochemistry, petrogenesis and geodynamic origin of basalts from the Katun accretionary complex of Gorny Altay, south-western Siberia. Russian Geology and Geophysics 52, 421–442.
- Safonova, I.Yu., Sennikov, N.V., Komiya, T., Bychkova, Y.V., Kurganskaya, E.V., 2011c. Geochemical diversity in oceanic basalts hosted by the Zasur'ya accretionary complex, NW Russian Altai, Central Asia: implications from trace elements and Nd isotopes. Journal of Asian Earth Sciences 42, 191–207.
- Safonova, I.Yu., Simonov, V.A., Obut, O.T., Kurganskaya, E.V., Romer, R., Seltmann, R., 2012. Late Paleozoic oceanic basalts hosted by the Char suture-shear zone, East Kazakhstan: geological position, geochemistry, petrogenesis and tectonic setting. Journal of Asian Earth Sciences 49, 20–39.
- Safonova, I., Litasov, K., Maruyama, S., 2015a. Triggers and sources of volatile-bearing plumes in the mantle transition zone. Geoscience Frontiers 6, 679–685.
- Safonova, I., Maruyama, S., Litasov, K., 2015b. Generation of hydrous-carbonate plumes in the mantle transition zone linked to tectonic erosion and subduction. Tectonophysics 662, 454–471.
- Safonova, I., Biske, G., Romer, R.L., Seltmann, R., Simonov, V., Maruyama, S., 2016a. Middle Paleozoic mafic magmatism and ocean plate stratigraphy of the South Tianshan, Kyrgyzstan. Gondwana Research 30, 236–256.
- Safonova, I., Maruyama, S., Kojima, S., Komiya, T., Krivonogov, S., Koshida, K., 2016b. Recognizing OIB and MORB in accretionary complexes: a new approach based on ocean plate stratigraphy, petrology, and geochemistry. Gondwana Research 33, 92–114.
- Salnikova, E.B., Kozakov, I.K., Kotov, A.B., Kroener, A., Todt, W., Bibikova, E.V., Nutman, A., Yakovleva, S.Z., Kovach, V.P., 2001. Age of Palaeozoic granites and metamorphism in the Tuvino-Mongolian Massif of the Central Asian Mobile Belt: loss of Precambrian microcontinent. Precambrian Research 110, 143–164.
- Salnikova, E.B., Kotov, A.B., Kovach, V.P., Velikoslavinskii, S.D., Jahn, B.M., Sorokin, A.A., Sorokin, A.P., Wang, K.L., Chan, S.L., Li, H.Y., Tolmacheva, E.V., 2013. Mesozoic age of the Uril Formation of the Amur group, lesser Khingan Terrane of the Central Asian Foldbelt: results of U–Pb and Lu–Hf isotopic studies of detrital zircons. Doklady Earth Sciences 453, 1181–1184.
- Santosh, M., Maruyama, S., Komiya, T., Yamamoto, S., 2010. orogens in the evolving earth: from surface continents to 'lost continents' at the core–mantle boundary. In: Kusky, T., Zhai, M.-G., Xiao, W. (Eds.), The Evolving Continents: Understanding Processes of Continental Growth. Geological Society, London, Special Publications Vol. 338, pp. 77–116.
- Santosh, M., Maruyama, S., Sawaki, Y., Meetr, J.G., 2014. The Cambrian explosion: plumedriven birth of the second ecosystem on earth. Gondwana Research 25, 945–965.
- Saveliev, D.P., 2003. Within-plate alkali basalts of the Cretaceous accretionary complex (Eastern Kamchatka). Volcanology and Seismology 1, 14–20 in Russian.
- Scholl, D.W., von Huene, R., 2007. Crustal recycling at modern subduction zones applied to the past – issues of growth and preservation of continental basement crust, mantle geochemistry, and supercontinent reconstruction. Geological Society of America Memoirs 200, 9–32.
- Sengör, A.M.C., Natal'in, B.A., 1996. Palaeotectonics of Asia: fragments of a synthesis. In: Yin, A., Harrison, M. (Eds.), Tectonic Evolution of Asia. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 486–640.
- Senshu, H., Maruyama, S., Rino, S., Santosh, M., 2009. Role of tonalite-trodhjemitegranite (TTG) crust subduction on the mechanism supercontinent breakup. Gondwana Research 15, 433–442.
- Shen, P., Pan, H., Seitmuratova, E., Yuan, F., Jakupova, S., 2015. A Cambrian intra-oceanic subduction system in the Bozshakol area, Kazakhstan. Lithos 224–225, 61–77.
- Shipboard Scientific Party, 1980. Site 434: the lower trench slope, leg 56. Scientific Party, Initial Reports of the Deep Sea Drilling Project, 56. 57, Pt. 1. U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington D.C., pp. 355–398.
- Simonov, V.A., Dobretsov, N.L., Buslov, M.M., 1994. Boninite series in structures of the Paleo-Asian ocean. Russian Geology and Geophysics 35, 182–199.
- Stern, R., 2010. The anatomy and ontogeny of modern intra-oceanic arc systems. In: Kusky, T.M., Zhai, M.-G., Xiao, W. (Eds.), The Evolving Continents: Understanding Processes of Continental Growth. Geological Society of London Special Publications Vol. 338, pp. 7–34.
- Stern, C.R., 2011. Subduction erosion: rates, mechanisms, and its role in arc magmatism and the evolution of the continental crust and mantle. Gondwana Research 20, 284–308.
- Stern, R.J., Scholl, D.W., 2010. Yin and Yang of continental crust creation and destruction by plate tectonics. International Geology Review 52, 1–31.
- Sun, M., Yuan, C., Xiao, W., Long, X., Xia, X., Zhao, G., Lin, S., Wu, X., Kröner, A., 2008. Zircon U–Pb and Hf isotopic study of gneissic rocks from the Chinese Altai: progressive accretionary history in the early to middle Paleozoic. Chemical Geology 247, 352–383.
- Taira, A., Katto, J., Tahiro, M., Okamura, M., Kodama, K., 1988. The Shimanto Belt in Shikoku, Japan: evolution of Cretaceous to Miocene accretionary prism. Modern Geology 12, 5–46.
- Turkina, O.M., 2002. Tonalite-trondhjemite complexes of subduction-related settings (by the example of Late Riphean plagiogranitoids of the southwestern margin of the Siberian platform). Russian Geology and Geophysics 43, 403–417.
  Turkina, O.M., Nozhkin, A.D., Bayanova, T.B., Dmitrieva, N.V., Travin, A.V., 2007. Precambri-
- Turkina, O.M., Nozhkin, A.D., Bayanova, T.B., Dmitrieva, N.V., Travin, A.V., 2007. Precambrian terranes in the southwestern framing of the Siberian craton: isotopic provinces, stages of crustal evolution and accretion–collision events. Russian Geology and Geophysics 48, 61–70.

- Turkina, O.M., Berezhnaya, N.G., Lepekhina, E.N., Kapitonov, I.N., 2012. U–Pb (SHRIMP II), Lu–Hf isotope and trace element geochemistry of zircons from high-grade metamorphic rocks of the Irkut terrane, Sharyzhalgay uplift: implications for the Neoarchaean evolution of the Siberian Craton. Gondwana Research 21, 801–817.
- Ueda, H., Kawamura, M., Niida, K., 2000. Accretion and tectonic erosion processes revealed by the mode of occurrence and geochemistry of greenstones in the Cretaceous accretionary complexes of the Idonappu zone, southern central Hokkaido, Japan. The Island Arc 9, 237–257.
- Urmantseva, L.N., Turkina, O.M., Larionov, A.N., 2012. Metasedimentary rocks of the Angara-Kan granulite-gneiss block (Yenisey Ridge, south-western margin of the Siberian Craton): provenance characteristics, deposition and age. Journal of Asian Earth Sciences 49, 7–19.
- Volkova, N.I., Budanov, V.I., 1999. Geochemical discrimination of metabasalt rocks of the Fan-Karategin transitional blueschist/greenschist belt, South Tianshan, Tajikistan: seamount volcanism and accretionary tectonics. Lithos 47, 201–216.
- Volkova, N.I., Sklyarov, E.V., 2007. High-pressure complexes of the Central Asian fold belt: geological setting, geochemistry, and geodynamic implications. Russian Geology and Geophysics 48, 109–119.
- Volkova, N.I., Stupakov, S.I., Tertjakov, G.A., Simonov, V.A., Travin, A.V., Yudin, D.S., 2005. Blueschists from the Uimon Zone as evidence for Ordovician accretionarycollisional events in Gorny Altai. Russian Geology and Geophysics 46, 361–378.
- Volkova, N.I., Tarasova, E.N., Polyanskii, N.V., Khomyakov, V.D., 2008. High-pressure rocks in the serpentinite melange of the Chara Zone, East Kazakhstan: geochemistry, petrology, and age. Geochemistry International 46, 386–401.
- Volkova, N.I., Stupakov, S.I., Babin, G.A., Rudnev, S.N., Mongush, A.A., 2009. Mobility of trace elements during subduction metamorphism as exemplified by the blueschists of the Kurtushibinsky range, western Sayan. Geochemistry International 47, 380–392.
- von Huene, R., Uyeda, S., 1981. A summary of results from the IPOD transects across the Japan, Mariana and Middle-America convergent margins. In: Blanchet, R., Montadert, L. (Eds.), Geology of Continental Margins. Oceanologica Acta. Proceedings 26th International Geological Congress. Paris, July 7·17, 1980, pp. 233–239.
- von Huene, R., Ranero, C., Vannucchi, P., 2004. Generic model of subduction erosion. Geology 32, 913–916.
- Wakita, K., 2012. Mappable features of mélanges derived from ocean plate stratigraphy in the Jurassic accretionary complexes of Mino and Chichibu terranes, Southwest Japan. Tectonophysics 568–569, 74–85.
- Wang, Z., Sun, S., Li, J., Hou, Q., Qin, K., Xiao, W., Hao, J., 2003. Paleozoic tectonic evolution of the northern Xinjiang, China: geochemical and geochronological constraints from the ophiolites. Tectonics 22, 1–15.
- Wang, T., Jahn, B.-m., Kovach, V.P., Tong, Y., Hong, D.W., Han, B.W., 2009. Nd–Sr isotopic mapping of the Chinese Altai and implications for continental growth in the Central Asian Orogenic Belt. Lithos 110, 359–372.
- Wang, B., Faure, M., Shu, L.S., de Jong, K., Charvet, J., Cluzel, D., Jahn, B.M., Chen, Y., Ruffet, G., 2010. Structural and geochronological study of high-pressure metamorphic rocks in the Kekesu section (Northwestern China): implications for the late Paleozoic tectonics of the southern Tainshan. Journal of Geology 118, 59–77.
- Wang, B., Shu, L., Faure, M., Jahn, B.-m., Cluzel, D., Charvet, J., Chung, S.-I., Meffre, S., 2011. Paleozoic tectonics of the southern Chinese Tianshan: Insights from structural, chronological and geochemical studies of the Heiyingshan ophiolitic mélange (NW China). Tectonophysics 497, 85–104.
- Wang, Z.M., Han, C.M., Su, B.X., Sakyi, P.A., Malaviarachchi, S.P.K., Ao, S.J., Wang, L.J., 2013. The metasedimentary rocks from the eastern margin of the Tarim Craton: petrology, geochemistry, zircon U–Pb dating, Hf isotopes and tectonic implications. Lithos 179, 120–136.
- Wang, T., Jahn, B.-m., Kovach, V.P., Tong, Y., Wilde, S.A., Hong, D.W., Li, S., Salnikova, E.B., 2014. Mesozoic intraplate granitic magmatism in the Altai accretionary orogen, NW China: implications for the orogenic architecture and crustal growth. American Journal of Science 314, 1–42.
- White, L.T., Gibson, G.M., Lister, G.S., 2013. A reassessment of paleogeographic reconstructions of eastern Gondwana: bringing geology back into the equation. Gondwana Research 24, 984–998.
- Windley, B.F., Alexeiev, D., Xiao, W., Kröner, A., Badarch, G., 2007. Tectonic models for accretion of the Central Asian Orogenic Belt. Journal of the Geological Society, London 164, 31–47.
- Xiao, W., Santosh, M., 2014. The western Central Asian Orogenic Belt: a window to accretionary orogenesis and continental growth. Gondwana Research 25, 1429–1444.
- Xiao, X., Gao, J., Tang, Y., Wan, J., Zhao, M., 1994. Blueschist belts and their tectonics significance in the orogenic belts, Northwestern China. Russian Geology and Geophysics 35, 172–189.
- Xiao, W., Windley, B.F., Badarch, G., Sun, S., Li, J., Qin, K., Wang, Z., 2004. Palaeozoic accretionary and convergent tectonics of the southern Altaids: implications for the growth of Central Asia. Journal of the Geological Society, London 161, 339–342.
- Xiao, W.J., Windley, B.F., Yuan, C., Sun, M., Han, C.M., Lin, S.F., Chen, H.L., Yan, Q.R., Liu, D.Y., Qin, K.Z., Li, J.L., Sun, S., 2009. Paleozoic multiple subduction–accretion processes of the southern Altaids. American Journal of Science 309, 221–270.
- Xiao, W.J., Huang, B.C., Han, C.M., Sun, S., Li, J.L., 2010. A review of the western part of the Altaids: a key to understanding the architecture of accretionary orogens. Gondwana Research 18, 253–273.
- Xiao, B., Chen, H., Wang, Y., Yang, J., 2015. Discovery of the Late Silurian granodiorite and its tectonic significance in the Tuwu-Yandong porphyry copper deposits, Dananhu-Tousuquan island arc, Eastern Tianshan. Earth Science Frontiers 2015 (22), 251–266.
- Xie, W., Luo, Z., Xu, Y., Chen, Y., Hong, L., Ma, L., Ma, Q., 2016. Petrogenesis and geochemistry of the Late Carboniferous rear-arc (or back-arc) pillow basaltic lava in the Bogda Mountains, Chinese North Tianshan. Lithos 244, 30–42.

- Xu, X.Y., Li, X.M., Ma, Z.P., Xia, L.Q., Xia, Z.C., Peng, S.X., 2006. LA–ICP–MS zircon U–Pb dating of gabbro from the Bayingou ophiolite in the northern Tianshan mountains. Acta Geologica Sinica 80, 1168–1176.
- Yakubchuk, A.S., 2004. Architecture and mineral deposit settings of the Altaid orogenic collage: a revised model. Journal of Asian Earth Sciences 23, 761–779.
- Yamamoto, S., Senshu, H., Rino, S., Omori, S., Maruyama, S., 2009. Granite subduction: arc subduction, tectonic erosion and sediment subduction. Gondwana Research 15, 443–453.
- Yang, G., Li, Y., Safonova, I., Yi, S., Tong, L., Seltmann, R., 2014. Early Carboniferous volcanic rocks of West Junggar in the western Central Asian Orogenic Belt: implications for a supra-subduction system. International Geology Review 56, 823–844.
- Yang, G., Li, Y., Xiao, W., Tong, L., 2015a. OIB-type rocks within West Junggar ophiolitic mélanges: evidence for the accretion of seamounts. Earth-Science Reviews 150, 477–496.
- Yang, H., Ge, W., Zhao, G., Yu, J., Zhang, Y., 2015b. Early Permian–Late Triassic granitic magmatism in the Jiamusi–Khanka Massif, eastern segment of the Central Asian Orogenic Belt and its implications. Gondwana Research 27, 1509–1533.
- Yarmolyuk, V.V., Kovach, V.P., Kovalenko, V.I., Salnikova, E.B., Kozlovskii, A.M., Kotov, A.B., Yakovleva, S.Z., Fedoseenko, A.M., 2011. Composition, sources, and mechanism of continental crust growth in the Lake zone of the central Asian Caledonides: I. Geological and geochronological data. Petrology 19, 55–78.
- Yarmolyuk, V.V., Kovach, V.P., Kozakov, I.K., Kozlovsky, A.M., Kotov, A.B., Rytsk, E.Y., 2012. Mechanisms of continental crust formation in the Central Asian Foldbelt. Geotectonics 46, 251–272.
- Yuan, C., Sun, M., Xiao, W.J., Li, X.H., Chen, H.L., Lin, S.F., Xia, X.P., Long, X.P., 2007. Accretionary orogenesis of the Chinese Altai: insights from Paleozoic granitoids. Chemical Geology 242, 22–39.
- Zhang, R., Cong, B., Maruyama, S., Liou, J., 1993. Metamorphism and tectonic evolution of the Lancang paired metamorphic belts, south-western China. Journal of Metamorphic Geology 11, 605–619.
- Zhang, H.X., Niu, H.C., Yu, X.Y., Ito, J., Sato, H., Qiang, S., 2005. Late Paleozoic adakites and Nb-enriched basalts from northern Xinjiang, NW China: evidence for the southward subduction of the Paleo-Asian Ocean. The Island Arc 14, 55–68.
- Zhang, Z., Zhou, G., Kusky, T.M., Yan, S., Chen, B., Zhao, L., 2009. Late Paleozoic volcanic record of the Eastern Junggar terrane, Xinjiang, Northwestern China: major and trace element characteristics, Sr–Nd isotopic systematics and implications for tectonic evolution. Gondwana Research 16, 201–215.
- Zhao, X., Coe, R.S., Zhou, Y., Wu, H., Wang, J., 1990. New paleomagnetic results from northern China: collision and suturing with Siberia and Kazakhstan. Tectonophysics 181, 43–81.

- Zhao, P., Chen, Y., Xu, B., Faure, M., Shi, G., Choulet, F., 2013. Did the Paleo-Asian Ocean between North China block and Mongolia block exist during the late Paleozoic? First paleomagnetic evidence from central-eastern Inner Mongolia, China. Journal of Geophysical Research, Solid Earth 118, 1873–1894.
- Zheng, Y.F., Xiao, W.J., Zhao, G.C., 2013. Introduction to tectonics of China. Gondwana Research 23, 1189–1206.
- Zhou, J.-B., Wilde, S.A., 2013. The crustal accretion history and tectonic evolution of the NE China segment of the Central Asian Orogenic Belt. Gondwana Research 23, 1365–1377.
- Zhu, W., Zheng, B., Shu, L., Ma, D., Wu, H., Li, Y., Huang, W., Yu, J., 2011. Neoproterozoic tectonic evolution of the Precambrian Aksu blueschist terrane, northwestern Tarim, China: insights from IA–ICP–MS zircon U–Pb ages and geochemical data. Precambrian Research 185, 215–230.
- Zonenshain, L.P., Kuzmin, M.I., Natapov, L.M., 1990. Geology of the USSR: A Plate-Tectonic Synthesis. American Geophysical Union, Geodynamic Series vol. 21.



Inna Safonova: Senior Research Scientist at the Institute of Geology and Mineralogy SB RAS, Novosibirsk, Russia (since 1991) (http://www.igm.nsc.ru/labs/lab212/~safonova/). M.Sc. (1987) from the Novosibirsk State University (Honors), Ph.D. (2005) from the Institute of Geology SB RAS. Associate Editor of Gondwana Research, Geoscience Frontiers and Journal of Asian Earth Sciences. Secretary for the International Association for Gondwana Research. Brain Pool Program Researcher in the Korea Institute of Geoscience and Mineral Resources (2010–2012). Scientific Associate at the Centre for Russian and Central EurAsian Mineral Studies (CERCAMS), Natural History Museum, London; Japan Society for Promotion of Science Program Fellowship in the Tokyo Institute of Technology, Japan (2014–2015). Research

fields include Pacific-type orogenic belts, continental growth in Central Asia, ocean plate stratigraphy, igneous geochemistry and petrology, geochronology, mantle plumes. Published over 70 peer-reviewed papers in SCI journals. Proposer and Leader of IGCP#592 Project "Continental construction in the Central Asian Orogenic Belt compared with actualistic examples from the western Pacific" sponsored by UNESCO-IUCS (2012–2016) (https://sites.google.com/site/igcp592/home).